

# **Standard Rules**

for

# **Credit Unions**

(REPUBLIC OF IRELAND)

**REGISTERED UNDER THE CREDIT UNION ACT, 1997 (AS AMENDED)** 

and affiliated to the

# **Irish League of Credit Unions**

Copyright © Irish League of Credit Unions 2024

2024 Version

All rights reserved. No part of this document may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, including photocopying and recording, or stored in any retrieval system of any nature without the prior written permission of the copyright holder [except for use by the Registrar of Credit Unions and the Minister pursuant to the Credit Union Act, 1997 (as amended)], application for which should be addressed to the Chief Executive Officer, Irish League of Credit Unions.

#### PREFACE

#### **CREDIT UNION OPERATING PRINCIPLES**

Statement of Credit Union Operating Principles as adopted at Annual General Meeting of the Irish League of Credit Unions 1984.

#### INTRODUCTION

These Credit Union Operating Principles are founded in the philosophy of co-operation and its central values of equality, equity and mutual self-help. At the heart of these principles is the concept of human development and fellowship expressed through people working together to achieve a better life for themselves and their children.

#### 1. OPEN AND VOLUNTARY MEMBERSHIP

Membership in a credit union is voluntary and open to all within the accepted common bond of association that can make use of its services and are willing to accept the corresponding responsibilities.

#### 2. DEMOCRATIC CONTROL

Credit union members enjoy equal rights to vote (one member, one vote) and participate in decisions affecting the credit union, without regard to the amount of savings or deposits or the volume of business. The credit union is autonomous, within the framework of law and regulation, recognising the credit union as a co-operative enterprise serving and controlled by its members. Credit union elected officers are voluntary in nature and incumbents should not receive a salary for fulfilling the duties for which they were elected. However, credit unions may reimburse legitimate expenses incurred by elected officials.

#### 3. LIMITED DIVIDENDS ON EQUITY CAPITAL

Permanent equity capital where it exists in the credit union receives limited dividends.

#### 4. **RETURN ON SAVINGS AND DEPOSITS**

To encourage thrift through savings and thus to provide loans and other member services, a fair rate of interest is paid on savings and deposits, within the capability of the credit union.

#### 5. RETURN OF SURPLUS TO MEMBERS

The surplus arising out of the operations of the credit union after ensuring appropriate reserve levels and after payment of dividends belongs to and benefits all members with no member or group of members benefiting to the detriment of others. This surplus may be distributed among the members in proportion to their transactions with the credit union (interest or patronage refunds) or directed to improved or additional services required by the members.

Expenditure in credit unions should be for the benefit of all members with no member or group of members benefiting to the detriment of other.

#### 6. NON-DISCRIMINATION IN RACE, RELIGION AND POLITICS

Credit unions are non-discriminatory in relation to race, nationality, sex, religion and politics within the limits of their legal common bond. Operating decisions and the conduct of business are based on member needs, economic factors and sound management principles. While credit unions are apolitical and will not become aligned with partisan political interests, this does not prevent or restrict them from making such political representations as are necessary to defend and promote the collective interests of credit unions and their members.

#### 7. SERVICE TO MEMBERS

Credit union services are directed towards improving the economic and social well-being of all members whose needs shall be a permanent and paramount consideration rather than towards the maximising of surpluses.

#### 8. ON-GOING EDUCATION

Credit unions actively promote the education of their members, officers and employees, along with the public in general, in the economic, social, democratic and mutual self-help principles of credit unions. The promotion of thrift and the wise use of credit, as well as education on the rights and responsibilities of members are essential to the dual social and economic character of credit unions in serving member needs.

#### 9. CO-OPERATION AMONG CO-OPERATIVES

In keeping with their philosophy and the pooling practices of co-operatives, credit unions within their capability actively co-operate with other credit unions, co-operatives and their associations at local, national and international levels in order to best serve the interests of their members and their community. This inter-co-operation fosters the development of the co-operative sector in society.

#### 10. SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Continuing the ideals and beliefs of co-operative pioneers, credit unions seek to bring about human and social development. Their vision of social justice extends both to the individual members and to the larger community in which they work and reside. The credit union ideal is to extend service to all who need and can use it. Every person is either a member or a potential member and appropriately part of the credit union sphere of interest and concern. Decisions should be taken with full regard for the interests of the broader community within which the credit union and its members reside.

# Contents

for	1
INTERPRETATION	6
The singular shall, where necessary, include the plural	9
SECTION 3. REGISTRATION	11
SECTION 4. RULES	12
SECTION 5. MEMBERSHIP Rule 16. Referral to another credit union	
Rule 17. Appeal against refusal of membership	15
Rule 18. Member ceasing to have the common bond	15
SECTION 6.PASSING OF A MEMBER'S INTEREST.Rule 24.Nomination of property in the credit union	
Rule 26. Provision for small payments on death	19
SECTION 7.OPERATION OF THE CREDIT UNIONRule 31.Restrictions on withdrawal of shares and deposits	
SECTION 8. BOARD OF DIRECTORS	24
SECTION 9. BOARD OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE Rule 58. Resignation of board oversight committee	
Rule 60. Functions of the board oversight committee	
SECTION 10. PRINCIPAL POSTS: DUTIES	36
SECTION 11. CREDIT COMMITTEE Rule 73. Duties of credit committee and/or credit officer	
SECTION 12. CREDIT CONTROL COMMITTEE	40
SECTION 13. MEMBERSHIP COMMITTEE	41
SECTION 14. SUSPENSION AND REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS BY THE BOARD OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE Rule 85. Suspension and removal of directors by the board oversight committee	
SECTION 15. APPOINTED OFFICERS	
SECTION 16. MANAGEMENT - GENERAL PROVISIONS	45
SECTION 17. MEETINGS, RESOLUTIONS ETC Rule 99. General meetings: voting, adjournment, quorum and minutes	
Rule 100. Supplementing provisions as to general meetings	54
SECTION 18. NOMINATIONS, ELECTIONS, ETC.	55
SECTION 19. ACCOUNTS AND AUDIT	58
SECTION 20 Delivery of Notices etc	58
Rule 108	58

SECTIO	N	59
21	DISPUTES AND COMPLAINTS	59
	N 22. AFFILIATION WITH THE IRISH LEAGUE OF CREDIT UNIONS	

#### **INTERPRETATION**

#### Rule 1. Interpretation

'act of 2014' means the Companies Act 2014

'the Act' means the Credit Union Act 1997;

'the Acts' means the Credit Union Acts 1997 to 2023;

'the 2012 Act' means the Credit Union and Cooperation with Overseas Regulators Act 2012;

'the 2023 Act' means the Credit Union (Amendment) Act 2023

**'amendment'** in relation to the rules of a credit union, includes a new rule, and a resolution rescinding a rule, of the credit union;

'annual accounts' has the meaning given by section 111(6) of the Act;

'annual general meeting' has the meaning given by section 78(1) of the Act;

'Bank' means the Central Bank of Ireland;

**'board of directors'** means the body which has general control, direction and management of a credit union and to which section 53 of the Act relates;

'board oversight committee' has the meaning given by section 76L of the Act;

**'books and documents'** includes accounts and records made in any manner, and 'books or documents' shall be construed accordingly;

**'business continuity'** and **'business continuity plan'** have the meanings given to them, respectively, by section 76I of the Act;

'chair' has the meaning given by section 55A(2) of the Act;

**'civil partner'** has the same meaning as it has in the Civil Partnership and Certain Rights and Obligations of Cohabitants Act 2010;

**'cohabitant'** has the same meaning as it has in the Civil Partnership and Certain Rights and Obligations of Cohabitants Act 2010;

**'common bond'** means a common bond falling within subsection (3) or (7) of section 6 of the Act

**'company'** means a company formed and registered under the Act of 2014 or an existing company within the meaning of that Act.

'compliance officer' has the meaning given by section 76D of the Act;

corporate credit union' means a credit union registered pursuant to section 6 (6) of the Act

**'credit union'** means a society registered as such under the Act, including a society deemed to be so registered by virtue of section 5(3) of the Act;

**'financial services legislation'** where applicable to credit unions acting under any authorisation from the Bank provided for by law, means:

- (a) the designated enactments within the meaning of section 2 of the Central Bank Act 1942,
- (b) the designated statutory instruments within the meaning of section 2 of the Central Bank Act 1942, and

the Central Bank Acts 1942 to 2011 together with the statutory instruments made under those Acts;

'general meeting' means an annual general meeting or a special general meeting;

**'manager'** means the individual appointed to the role of manager of the credit union under section 63A of the Act;

**'management team'** has the meaning given by section 55(1)(*i*) of the Act;

'meeting' includes, a meeting of delegates appointed by members;

**'member of the family'** in relation to any person, means that person's father, mother, grandfather, grandmother, father-in-law, mother-in-law, spouse or civil partner, cohabitant, son, daughter, grandson, granddaughter, brother, sister, half-brother, half-sister, uncle, aunt, nephew, niece, first cousin, stepson, stepdaughter, stepbrother, stepsister, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law or sister-in-law;

'Minister' means the Minister for Finance;

'nomination committee' has the meaning given by section 56B(1) of the Act;

'non-qualifying member' has the meaning given by section 17(4) of the Act;

**'officer'** includes:

- (*a*) the chair, the secretary or any other member of the board of directors, a member of a principal Committee, a member of the board oversight committee, a member of the appellate body referred to in Rule 36, risk management officer, compliance officer, credit officer, membership officer or credit control officer of the credit union,
- (b) an employee of the credit union to whom paragraph (a) does not apply, and
- (c) a voluntary assistant of the credit union,

but does not include an auditor appointed by the credit union in accordance with the requirements of the Act;

'organisation meeting' has the meaning given by section 77(1) of the Act;

'passbook' includes any type of written statement of account;

**'persons claiming through a member'** includes the executors or administrators and assignees of a member and, where nomination is allowed, the member's nominee;

'prescribe' has the meaning given by section 2 of the Act;

**'principal committee'** means a credit committee, credit control committee or membership committee;

# 'public body' means —

(a) a Department of State,

(b) an entity established by or under any enactment (other than the Act of 2014 or a former enactment relating to companies within the meaning of section 5 of that Act),

(c) any other entity established (other than under the Act of 2014 or a former enactment relating to companies within the meaning of section 5 of that Act) or appointed by the Government or a Minister of the Government, including an entity established (other than under the Act of 2014 or a former enactment relating to companies within the meaning of section 5 of that Act) by a Minister of the Government under any scheme,

(d) a company a majority of the shares in which are held by or on behalf of a Minister of the Government,

(e) a subsidiary of a company to which paragraph (d) relates, or

(f) an entity (other than a subsidiary to which paragraph (e) relates) that is directly or indirectly controlled by an entity to which paragraph (b), (c), (d) or (e) relates;

'subsidiary' has the same meaning as it has in the Act of 2014

**'registered'** means for the time being entered in the register maintained by the Bank and 'registration' shall be construed accordingly;

'risk management officer' has the meaning given by section 76C(1) of the Act;

'risk management system' has the meaning given by section 76B(1) of the Act;

'savings' has the meaning given by section 27(1) of the Act;

"savings protection scheme" means the scheme established by the Irish League of Credit Unions to protect, in whole or in part, the savings of members of the credit union in the event of insolvency or other financial default on the part of the credit union and, for this purpose, "savings" includes shares, deposits and all other funds held by a credit union on behalf of its members;

**'share'** means each sum of one euro standing to the credit of a member of the credit union in respect of shares in the register of members required by the Act to be kept by the credit union;

'special general meeting' shall be construed in accordance with section 79 of the Act;

**'special resolution'** means a resolution which is passed by a majority of not less than three quarters of such members of a credit union present and voting and who are for the time being entitled to vote in person at any general meeting of which notice, specifying the intention to propose the resolution, has been duly given according to the rules of the credit union;

'strategic objectives' has the meaning given by section 76A(1) of the Act;

'strategic plan' has the meaning given by section 76A(1) of the Act;

**'voluntary assistant'** means a member of the credit union who, although not a remunerated employee of the credit union, is engaged in any way in the operation of the credit union.

The singular shall, where necessary, include the plural.

The marginal notes and headings are inserted for convenience of reference only and shall not affect the construction of these rules.

Reference to an Act or Regulations means the relevant Act or Regulations in force including every statutory extension, modification and re-enactment thereof from time to time in force.

# Rule 1A.

Any reference in these rules to a member present and voting at a general meeting shall be construed as including a reference to a member in attendance and voting at a general meeting conducted wholly or partly by the use of electronic communications technology.

# SECTION 2. NAME AND OBJECTS

#### Rule 2.Name

(1) The name of the credit union shall be

Member First. Credit Union Limited (hereinafter referred to as 'the credit union').

(hereinafter referred to as 'the credit union').

As soon as practicable, the credit union shall cause its registered name to be painted or affixed, and to be kept painted or affixed, in a conspicuous position and in letters easily legible, on the outside of its registered office and every other office or place in which the business of the credit union is carried on, and shall have that name engraved in legible characters on its seal and set out in legible characters:

- (a) in all notices, advertisements and other official publications of the credit union;
- (b) in all business letters of the credit union;
- (c) in all bills of exchange, promissory notes, endorsements, cheques, orders for money or goods and other instruments purporting to be signed by or on behalf of the credit union; and
- (d) in all bills, invoices, receipts and letters of credit of the credit union.
- (2) The credit union shall not use any name or title other than its registered name.
- (3) The credit union which is a sub-office of a registered credit union may cause its name, along with the registered name of the credit union, to be painted or affixed, and to be kept painted or affixed, in a conspicuous position and in letters easily legible, on the outside of its office.

#### Rule 3. Change of registered name

- (1) A credit union may not change its name except in accordance with the Act and this rule.
- (2) A credit union may change its name:
  - (a) by a resolution for the purpose passed at a general meeting of the credit union after the giving of such notice as is required by the rules of the credit union for a resolution to amend the rules; and

(b) with the prior approval in writing of the Bank.

#### Rule 4. Use of seal

- (1) The credit union shall have its name engraved in legible characters on a seal which shall be kept in such custody as the board of directors may appoint.
- (2) The seal of the credit union shall be used only under the authority of a resolution of the board of directors and shall be attested by the signatures of two directors of the credit union and the countersignature of the secretary for the time being.

#### Rule 5. *Objects*

- (1) The objects for which the credit union is formed are:
  - (i) the promotion of the accumulation of savings by its members;
  - (ii) the creation of sources of credit for the mutual benefit of its members at a fair and reasonable rate of interest;
  - (iii) the use and control of members' savings for their mutual benefit;
  - (iv) the training and education of its members in the use of money;
  - (v) the improvement of the well-being of the members' community; and
  - (vi) subject to section 48 of the Act, the provision to its members of such additional services as are for their mutual benefit.
- (2) Pursuant to these objects, the credit union may:
  - (a) acquire property of any description permitted by or under the Act; and
  - (b) do anything expedient for accomplishing, or conducive to or consequential upon, the objects for which the credit union is formed.

# Rule 6.Operating principles

The credit union shall conduct its affairs within the framework of the Operating Principles as set out in the preface hereto and in accordance with these rules.

# SECTION 3. REGISTRATION

# Rule 7.Registered office

(1) The registered office of the credit union shall be

#### Artane Roundabout, Malahide Road, Dublin 5

or such other place as may from time to time be determined by the board of directors.

(2) Notice of any change in the situation of the registered office shall be sent within fourteen days to the Irish League of Credit Unions and to the Bank.

# SECTION 4. RULES

#### Rule 8. *Rules*

- (1) The rules of the credit union may specify the form of any instrument necessary for carrying the purposes of the credit union into effect.
- (2) An acknowledgment of registration issued to the credit union under the Act shall constitute an acknowledgment, and, unless the contrary is proved, be sufficient evidence of the registration of the rules of the credit union in force at the date of the acknowledgment of the registration of the credit union.

#### Rule 9. Amendment of registered rules

- (1) The rules of the credit union shall not be amended except by a resolution passed by not less than two-thirds of the members of the credit union present and voting at an annual general meeting or at a special general meeting called for the purpose of considering a resolution proposing an amendment of the rules. Notice of the proposed amendment shall be given in writing to each member and to the auditor at the same time as the notice of the meeting is given.
- (2) The credit union shall not unilaterally amend the standard rules of the Irish League of Credit Unions.
- (3) Rules, or amendments of rules, proposed by the Irish League of Credit Unions for its members shall be laid before the next annual general meeting or special general meeting of the credit union called for the purpose.
- (4) A copy of any notice of amendment of rule shall be sent to the Irish League of Credit Unions at the same time as such notice is sent to the members of the credit union.
- (5) An amendment of the registered rules of the credit union shall not be valid until the amendment has been registered under the Act, for which purpose two copies of the amendment, signed by four members, one of whom shall be the secretary and another a director, shall be sent to the Bank.
- (6) Before sending a copy of the amended rules to the Bank under paragraph (5) the credit union is required to satisfy itself that the amendment is not contrary to the financial services legislation.
- (7) Paragraph (5) shall not apply to a change in the situation of the registered office of the credit union, or to a change in the name of the credit union in accordance with section 11 of the Act but notice of any such changes shall be sent forthwith to the Bank and to the Irish League of Credit Unions.
- (8) A copy of the rules and all amendments thereto shall be sent to the Irish League of Credit Unions immediately after the acknowledgment of registration has been received.

(9) Copies of amendments to the rules shall be displayed in the place of business of the credit union.

# SECTION 5. MEMBERSHIP

# Rule 10.Minimum number

The minimum number of members of the credit union at any time shall be fifteen.

# Rule 11. *Membership*

Membership shall be limited to and consist of the signatories to the application to register the credit union and such other persons having the following common bond:

Residence, Occupation, Employment or Education within the areas of Artane, Ayrfield, Beaumont, Coolock, Donnycarney, Drumcondra, Marino, North William Street, Raheny, and Swords. Those who were Members of Drumcondra and District Credit Union Limited on or before 02 July 2020,

as have been duly admitted members of the credit union in accordance with these rules and comply with such of the rules as relate to membership and including, if otherwise qualified, such other persons as were members of the unincorporated body known as Member First Credit Union Limited. immediately before the date on which such body secured registration as Member First Credit Union Limited.

Member First Credit Union Limited maintains on its website [a description of the common bond of the credit union] or [a map of the common bond of the credit union].

# Rule 12. Application for membership

Each application for membership must be in writing and must be approved in the manner set forth in rule 13 in accordance with the relevant membership form.

# Rule 13. Qualifications for membership

- (1) An applicant shall be admitted to membership only when:
  - (i) it shall have been determined that they are eligible for membership in accordance with rule 11; and
  - (ii) their application for membership shall have been approved by the affirmative vote of a majority of the board of directors or by a duly appointed and authorised membership committee present at a meeting at which the application is considered, or by a duly appointed and authorised Membership Officer; and
  - (iii) they have paid an entrance fee of ......(not more than  $\notin 1.27$ ); and
  - (iv) they have paid for a minimum of \_\_\_\_\_ share(s) (this minimum to be at least one and not more than ten or such larger number of shares as may be prescribed by the Minister) in the credit union; and
- (2) A person shall be treated as having the qualification required for admission to membership

of the credit union if they are a member of the same household as, and are a member of the family of, another person who is a member of the credit union and who has a direct common bond with those other members. However, a child or stepchild of a member, where such child or stepchild is under the age of 18 years and living outside the common bond but resident in the Republic of Ireland or the United Kingdom, shall not be precluded from membership of the credit union.

(3) A person so admitted to membership of the credit union shall assist in financing the Irish League of Credit Unions in accordance with Rule 110 (6).

# Rule 14.Person under age 16

- (1) A person under the age of sixteen:
  - (a) may be a member of the credit union, and
  - (b) subject to paragraph (2), may enjoy all the rights of membership, other than voting rights, and can give all necessary receipts.
- (2) Notwithstanding anything in paragraph (1), a member of the credit union who is not of full age may not be a member of the board of directors or of a principal committee or an office manager of the credit union.
- (3) Where the member under age sixteen cannot give the necessary receipts, the signature of the parent or guardian, at the discretion of the board of directors, will be sufficient.

# **Rule 15.** *Incorporated or unincorporated body*

(1) Notwithstanding any other provision in these rules, a body (whether incorporated or unincorporated), other than a corporate credit union, the majority of the members of which are, and continue to be, eligible for membership of the credit union may itself be admitted to, and retain membership of, the credit union, with the same rights and obligations as a natural person where—

(a) the majority of the members of the body are, and continue to be, eligible for membership of the credit union,

(b) the body has the common bond, set out in the rules of the credit union, in relation to the other members of the credit union, or

(c) the body is a public body designated in an order made under subsection (7B) of the Act as being eligible for membership of—

(i) the credit union, or

- (ii) a category of credit unions to which the credit union belongs.
- (2) For the purposes of ascertaining whether a body has the common bond referred to in paragraph (b) of Rule 15, —

(a) a body shall be treated as following a particular occupation where its business is that of a person following the occupation, and

(b) a body shall be treated as residing in a particular locality where it has a place of business in that locality.

#### Rule 16. Referral to another credit union

- (1) The credit union may refer a member of the credit union (in this Rule referred to as the 'referring credit union') to another credit union (in this Rule referred to as the 'receiving credit union') for the purpose of the provision by the receiving credit union of a service to the member of the referring credit union.
- (2) Where a member of a referring credit union is referred in accordance with paragraph (1)—
- (a) the receiving credit union may provide the service in respect of which the referral is made to the member concerned, and
- (b) the member concerned shall be deemed, for the purpose only of the provision of the service concerned, to be a member of the receiving credit union for the period during which the service is provided.

#### Rule 17. Appeal against refusal of membership

(1) A person who applies for membership of the credit union in accordance with the rules and is refused membership may appeal against the refusal in accordance with section 18 of the Act.

#### Rule 18. Member ceasing to have the common bond

- (1) A member who held the common bond of the credit union shall not cease to be a member solely because that member no longer holds the common bond of the credit union.
- (2) If a member of a credit union ceases to have the common bond required of members of that credit union, any such member (referred to as a non-qualifying member) shall be left out of account in determining for any purpose whether a common bond exists between the members of the credit union.

#### Rule 19. Non-exclusion

A member of the credit union shall not be excluded from membership by any amendment of the credit union's rules registered after they became a member.

#### Rule 20. Dormant accounts

The credit union may deal with shares and deposit accounts as hereinafter provided when there has been no member-initiated transaction on the account for a period of three years and when no reply has been received within thirty days from the member to a notice sent, by ordinary post, to the member at their last known address, of intent by the credit union to close the account(s). Such share and deposit accounts shall then be transferred to the reserve account. Dividends and interest shall continue to be payable on such accounts.

# Rule 21. Cesser of membership

A person ceases to be a member:

- (a) on their withdrawal from the credit union; or
- (b) on ceasing to hold the minimum shareholding, in accordance with rule 13(iv); or
- (c) on death; or
- (d) on expulsion from the credit union; or
- (e) in the case of a member other than a natural person, on its dissolution, or the taking of an effective action to wind it up; or
- (f) if, after admission, any defect is discovered in their qualification for membership at the time of admission.

#### Rule 22. Forfeiture of payments on shares

Written notice to their last known address shall be sent to any person who ceases to hold the minimum shareholding in accordance with rule 13(iv) after they have been admitted to membership, which notice shall state that their membership of the credit union has ceased in accordance with rule 21(b).

#### Rule 23. Expulsion and withdrawal

- (1) A member may be expelled from the credit union by a resolution for the member's expulsion passed by not less than two-thirds of the members present and voting at a special general meeting called for the purpose, provided that the member concerned:
  - (a) is given at least twenty-one days' notice in writing of the meeting and the proposed resolution; and
  - (b) is given a reasonable opportunity of being heard at the meeting.
- (2) A member who is expelled from the credit union may appeal against the expulsion to a Judge of the District Court for the district in which the registered office of the credit union is situated.
- (3) A member of the credit union may withdraw from membership of the credit union at any time, by notice in writing to the credit union, subject to the provisions governing the withdrawal of moneys from the credit union contained in these rules.
- (4) Subject to paragraphs (5) and (6), all moneys due in respect of withdrawable shares and deposits by a credit union to a member who withdraws or is expelled from the credit union shall be paid to the member after deduction of all moneys due from the member to the credit union; and the nominal value of non-withdrawable shares held by a member who is expelled (but not one who withdraws) may also be paid to the member (after deduction of all moneys so due).
- (5) Notwithstanding anything in these rules or in any contract, the credit union may, if it thinks fit, postpone payment of the whole or any part of the moneys to be paid as mentioned in

paragraph (4) until the end of the period of sixty days beginning on the date of the expulsion or withdrawal of the member concerned.

- (6) No payment in respect of shares shall be made by the credit union to a withdrawing or expelled member while any claim due on account of deposits is unsatisfied and no payment of any description shall be made to such a member unless all their liabilities (including contingent liabilities) to the credit union, whether as borrower, guarantor or otherwise, have been fully discharged or otherwise fully provided for by a person other than the credit union.
- (7) The withdrawal or expulsion of a member from the credit union shall not operate to relieve that member from any liability to the credit union which exists at the time of the withdrawal or expulsion.

# SECTION 6. PASSING OF A MEMBER'S INTEREST

#### Rule 24. Nomination of property in the credit union

- (1) Subject to paragraphs (2) to (4), a member of the credit union who is of or over the age of sixteen may, by a written statement signed by them and:
  - (a) made in any book kept at the credit union's registered office, or
  - (b) delivered at or sent to that office during the member's lifetime,

nominate a person or persons to become entitled at the member's death to the whole, or such part or parts as may be specified in the nomination, of any property in the credit union (whether in savings, loans, insurances or otherwise) which the member may have at the time of their death.

- (2) The nomination by a member of the credit union under paragraph (1) of a person who is at the date of the nomination an officer of the credit union shall not be valid unless that person is a member of the nominator's family.
- (3) For the purpose of the disposal of any property which is the subject of a nomination under paragraph (1), if, on the date of the nominator's death, the amount of the nominator's property in the credit union comprised in the nomination exceeds the statutory maximum, the nomination shall be valid to the extent of the amount standing so specified, but not further or otherwise.

(4) A nomination by a member of the credit union under paragraph (1) may be revoked or varied by a subsequent nomination under that paragraph or by any similar document in the nature of a revocation or variation signed by the nominator and delivered to the credit union's registered office during the nominator's lifetime; but such a nomination shall not be revocable or variable by the will of the nominator or by any codicil to their will.

- (5) The credit union shall keep a record:
  - (a) of the names of all persons nominated by its members under paragraph (1) and such other details as will positively identify the nominees: and

- (b) of all revocations or variations (if any) of nominations under that paragraph.
- (6) The marriage of a member of the credit union shall operate as a revocation of any nomination made by the member under paragraph (1) before the marriage, but if, in ignorance of a later marriage, an officer of the credit union transfers any property of that member in pursuance of such a nomination, the receipt of the nominee shall be a valid discharge to the credit union, and the credit union shall be under no liability to any other person claiming the property.
- (7) A nomination under paragraph (1) shall be revoked by the death of the nominee before the death of the nominator.
- (8) The signature of a person making a written statement referred to in paragraph (1) shall be witnessed by 2 other persons.
- (9) Each of the witnesses referred to in paragraph (8) shall witness the signature of the person making the statement by applying the witness's own signature to the statement.

# Rule 25.Proceedings on death of nominator

- (1) Subject to paragraph (2), where any member of the credit union has made a nomination under rule 24, the credit union, on receiving satisfactory proof of the death of that member, and if and to the extent that the nomination is valid under paragraph (1) of rule 24, shall in the case of each person entitled under the nomination either transfer to them, or pay them the full value of, the property to which they are so entitled.
- (2) Where any of the property comprised in a nomination under rule 24 consists of shares in the credit union, paragraph (1) shall have effect notwithstanding that these rules declare the shares in the credit union not to be transferable; but if the transfer of any shares comprised in the nomination in the manner directed by the nominator would raise the shareholding of any nominee beyond the maximum for the time being permitted in the credit union, the credit union:
  - (a) shall not transfer to that nominee more of those shares than will raise their shareholding to that maximum; and
  - (b) shall pay that nominee or transfer to their deposit account the value of any of those shares not transferred.
- (3) Where any sum falls to be paid under paragraph (1) or paragraph (2) to a nominee under the age of sixteen years, the credit union may pay that sum to either parent, or to a guardian, of the nominee or to any other person of full age:
  - (a) who will undertake to hold it on trust for the nominee or to apply it for the nominee's benefit; and
  - (b) whom the credit union may think a fit and proper person for the purpose;

and a receipt for that sum signed by that parent, guardian or other person shall be a sufficient discharge to the credit union for all money so paid.

#### Rule 26. *Provision for small payments on death*

- (1) If a member of the credit union dies and, at death, the member's property in the credit union (whether in savings, loans, insurance or otherwise):
  - (a) does not in the whole exceed the maximum amount specified by law, on the date of the member's death, and
  - (b) is not the subject of a nomination under rule 24,

the board of directors may, without letters of administration or probate of any will, distribute that property among such persons as appears to the board of directors (on such evidence as they consider satisfactory) to be entitled by law to receive it.

(2) The maximum referred to in paragraph (1) (a) is €18,000 or such other maximum as may be prescribed by law.

# Rule 27. Bankruptcy

If any member becomes bankrupt that member's property in the credit union not automatically assigned to the credit union against a loan or guarantee of a loan shall be transferred or paid to the Official Assignee in Bankruptcy.

#### Rule 28. Validity of payment

All payments or transfers made by the board of directors under rule 26 to a person appearing to the board of directors at the time of payment or transfer to be entitled under that rule shall be valid and effectual against any demand made upon the board of directors or credit union by any other person.

# SECTION 7. OPERATION OF THE CREDIT UNION

#### Rule 29. Shares: general provisions

- All shares in the credit union shall be of €1 denomination and shall be subscribed for in full. An amount of less than €1 may be credited to a member's share account in the credit union but no share shall be allotted to a member unless it is fully paid in cash.
- (2) A member of the credit union:
  - (a) shall not hold on deposit with the credit union more than €100,000 or such other maximum as may be prescribed by law or by the Bank; and
  - (b) shall not have or claim an interest in shares in the credit union exceeding an amount which, when aggregated with the amount held by the member on deposit with the credit union, exceeds whichever is the greater of €200,000 or one per cent. of the total assets of the credit union or such other maximums as may be prescribed by law or the Bank.
- (3) Notwithstanding paragraph (2), the board of directors may determine from time to time the maximum amount of shares and deposits which may be held by a member and which shall

be no greater than that permitted by paragraph (2).

# Rule 30. Dividends on shares

- (1) (a) The directors may recommend to the annual general meeting for approval a refund to the members on record as of the end of each financial year who have been borrowers during such year of a percentage of interest which such borrowers have paid during such year, and such rate of refund shall apply to all such member borrowers. Where a credit union operates a system whereby different rates of interest are charged for different classes of loans, the board of directors may recommend a different rate of refund applicable to each class of loan. Such refunds shall apply to all member borrowers in each class of loan.
  - (b) An interest rate refund shall not be made by the members at annual general meeting in the absence of a recommendation by the board of directors and any interest refund recommended by the directors under paragraph (1)(a), shall not be exceeded by the members at annual general meeting.
- (2) Dividends due to any member may be placed to the credit of the member's share balance.

#### Rule 31. Restrictions on withdrawal of shares and deposits

- (1) Notwithstanding anything in these rules or in any contract, the credit union may require not less than sixty days' notice from a member of the member's intention to withdraw a share in the credit union and a member may not withdraw any shares at a time when a claim due on account of deposits is unsatisfied.
- (2) Notwithstanding anything in these rules or in any contract, the credit union may require not less than twenty-one days' notice from a member of the member's intention to withdraw a deposit.
- (3) (a) If a member of the credit union seeks to withdraw savings in the credit union at a time when the member has an outstanding liability (including a contingent liability) to the credit union, whether as borrower, guarantor or otherwise, that withdrawal shall only be permitted:
  - (i) if the savings are not attached savings; or
  - (ii) where the savings are attached savings, if the withdrawal of such attached savings is approved by the credit committee or a credit officer.
  - (b)Any savings that existed in the credit union immediately before the commencement of section 32 of the Act (as amended by the 2012 Act) that were not withdrawable under that section immediately before that commencement shall be treated as attached savings after that commencement.
  - (c) Where the outstanding liability reduces below the level of attached savings, the amount of the attached savings shall not be greater than the outstanding balance of the loan.
  - (d) In this rule; 'attached savings' means a share in, or deposit with, a credit union which is pledged in writing by a member as security for a loan at the time of the issuing of the loan to the member or guaranteed by the member and 'savings' means a share in, or

deposit with, the credit union.

- (4) Where a member of the credit union is indebted to the credit union and consents in writing to the credit union acting under this paragraph, the credit union may, by way of set-off against the member's indebtedness, withdraw any of the member's shares or deposits; and such a withdrawal may be made notwithstanding anything in paragraphs (2) and (3).
- (5) The credit union shall have a lien on the shares, deposits, dividends and interest of any member for any debt due to the credit union from that member and may set off any sum credited to the member on those shares, deposits, dividends and interest in or towards the payment of that debt.

#### Rule 32. *Joint accounts*

- (1) Shares may be issued to and deposits accepted from two or more members by means of a joint account. Application must be made in accordance with the relevant form. By virtue of the right of survivorship on the death of one of the holders, the account becomes the property of the remaining joint tenants.
- (2) Only the first-named tenant in a joint account may vote unless the members of the joint tenancy nominate one of the other joint tenants to the account to cast the vote. In the event of all tenants of a joint account holding separate accounts in the credit union, the joint account may not exercise a further vote.
- (3) No tenant of a joint account is eligible to hold office in the credit union unless they own a separate account or unless all the tenants of the joint account agree in writing to the nomination to office.
- (4) None of the joint tenants in a joint account can exercise the right of nomination as defined in rule 24.
- (5) On the death of a joint tenant all their interest in the joint account including all accruals, additions thereto and insurances shall become the property of the surviving tenant or tenants whose receipt therefore shall be a good discharge to the credit union.
- (6) Loans may be made by the credit union:
  - (a) to the tenant designated by the tenants in a joint account as eligible to obtain loans, by virtue of the joint tenancy; or
  - (b) jointly to the joint tenants named in a joint account, by virtue of the joint tenancy.

Such loans must be made in accordance with rule 34 (where it is applicable) and may be secured or unsecured.

#### Rule 33. *Receipting for money*

- (1) Numbered passbooks or statements of accounts shall be issued to members.
- (2) Money paid in or paid out on account of shares, deposits, loans, interest, entrance fees and

fines (if any) shall be evidenced by an appropriate voucher or receipt or by entries in a member's passbook. Each voucher or receipt or entry in the passbook shall identify the person receiving or paying out, on behalf of the credit union, the money represented thereby.

(3) If a passbook or other receipt given to the member by the credit union is lost or stolen, immediate notice of such fact shall be given to the credit union and written application shall be made for the payment of the amount due to the member as recorded on said passbook or receipt or for the issue of a duplicate passbook or receipt. The board of directors may require the filing of an adequate bond to indemnify the credit union against any loss or losses resulting from the issue of such duplicate passbooks or receipts. The board of directors may also require payment to the credit union of a reasonable charge to cover the cost of issuing the duplicate passbook or receipt.

# Rule 34. Loans

(1) A credit union may—

(a) make a loan to a member of the credit union,

(b) enter into an agreement with one or more other credit unions in accordance with which the credit union agrees to participate in a loan to a member of one of those other credit unions (in this paragraph referred to as 'the originating lender') by the originating lender, or

- (c) enter into an agreement between-
  - (i) the credit union and one or more other credit unions, and
  - (ii) one or more members of—
    - (I) the credit union, or

(II) one of those other credit unions, in accordance with which each credit union that is a party to the agreement provides a loan to the member or those members, as the case may be, for such purpose as the credit union considers appropriate and upon such security (or without security) and terms as the rules of the credit union may provide.

- (2) The ability of the loan applicant to repay a loan shall be the primary consideration in the underwriting process of the credit union making the loan or participating in the loan, as the case may be.
- (3) Every application to a credit union for a loan shall be in writing and shall state the purpose for which the loan is required and the security (if any) offered for it.
- (4) A credit union shall not accept from an officer of the credit union a guarantee for a loan to another member unless that other member is the officer's spouse or civil partner, child or parent.
- (5) The credit union may make loans to persons ceasing to have the common bond required of

members of the credit union provided the total amount outstanding in respect of all such loans shall not exceed \_\_\_\_ per cent., or such larger percentage as may be approved by the Bank, of the total amount outstanding in respect of all loans made by the credit union to its members.

- (6) The credit union may accept, in addition to other forms of security:
  - (a) a guarantee by a member, or
  - (b) a pledge by a member of shares in or deposits with the credit union,

and, where such a guarantee or pledge is accepted, it shall be deemed to be a security for the loan.

- (7) The credit union shall comply with the requirements of the Act or the provisions of the European Communities (Consumer Credit Agreements) Regulations 2010 where applicable in respect of credit agreements.
- (8) No loan shall be made to a member who is under the age of eighteen and neither is nor has been married unless an indemnity is provided by the member's parent or guardian or by a person approved by the board of directors.

#### Rule 35.Approval of loans

- (1) A credit union shall not make a loan to a member unless it is approved in accordance with this rule.
- (2) A loan must be approved:
  - (a) by such number of members of the board of directors voting by secret ballot at a meeting of the board of directors at which the application for the loan is considered as represents at least two-thirds of those present and a majority of the members of the board of directors as a whole; or
  - (b) by such number of members of the credit committee present at a meeting of that committee at which the application for the loan is considered as represents at least two-thirds of those present and a majority of the committee members as a whole; or
  - (c) by a credit officer; or
  - (d) in accordance with a loan approval process which has been approved by the board of directors.

#### Rule 36. Appeal against non-approval of loan

(1) If an application for a loan which was considered (a) by the credit committee, (b) by a credit officer, or (c) in accordance with a loan approval process referred to in Rule 35 (2)(d), was not approved under rule 35, the applicant may appeal to an appellate body which, by a decision of such members of the body present at the meeting at which the appeal is considered as represents at least two-thirds of those present and a majority of the body as a

whole, may give approval to the loan, overriding the decision of the credit committee, of the credit officer or that made in accordance with the approval process, as the case may be.

# Rule 37. Interest on loans

- (1) The credit union may charge interest on loans made to its members under rule 34 subject to the following conditions:
  - (a) the interest on a loan shall not at any time exceed two per cent. per month on the amount of the loan outstanding at that time; applicable to—
    - (i) the credit agreement under which the loan is made, or
    - (ii) where there is no credit agreement, the loan.
  - (b) when by resolution of the board of directors the interest rates on future loans are reduced or raised, similar action may be taken with regard to interest rates on unpaid balances of existing loans.

# Rule 38.Savings protection scheme

- (1) The credit union shall participate in the Irish League of Credit Unions savings protection scheme.
- (2) Authorised representatives of the Irish League of Credit Unions savings protection scheme shall be entitled to inspect the books of the credit union. All books of account and other records of the credit union shall at any time be made available to the authorised representatives of the Irish League of Credit Unions savings protection scheme. Any such representatives shall have the right to inspect and take copies or extracts of any such books of account or other records.

# Rule 39. Insurances

The credit union may purchase and maintain such insurances as the Act may require or permit and as the board of directors or the members in general meeting consider necessary or desirable.

# SECTION 8. BOARD OF DIRECTORS

# Rule 40. Membership and general provisions

- (1) The credit union shall have a board of directors.
- (2) At the time of the adoption of these rules, the board of directors shall consist of 9 members, all of whom shall be members of the credit union.
- (3) The credit union shall comply with the Acts and all applicable requirements of financial services legislation, in particular but without limit to the Fitness & Probity Regulations for Credit Unions, with respect to the appointment, and continuation in office, of directors.
- (4) Only a natural person of full age may be a director of the credit union.
- (5) The following persons are not eligible to become a director of the credit union:

- (a) an employee or voluntary assistant of the credit union (other than the manager) or an employee of any other credit union;
- (b) a member of the board oversight committee of the credit union;
- (c) a director of any other credit union;
- (d) an employee of a representative body of which the credit union is a member, where that employee's role could expose them to a potential conflict of interest;
- (e) a public servant (within the meaning of the Financial Emergency Measures in the Public Interest Act 2009) assigned to the Department of Finance and involved in advising the Minister on credit union issues or in the examination of credit union issues;
- (f) a member of the Commission of the Bank;
- (g) an officer (within the meaning of section 2 of the Central Bank Act 1942) or other employee of the Bank and who is involved in the regulation of credit unions;
- (h) the Financial Services Ombudsman (within the meaning of section 2 of the Central Bank Act 1942) or a Bureau staff member (within the meaning of section 57BA of that Act);
- (i) a member of the Irish Financial Services Appeals Tribunal or a member of its staff (including the Registrar of the Appeals Tribunal appointed under section 57J of the Central Bank Act 1942);
- (j) the chief executive of the National Consumer Agency, an authorised officer of that Agency (within the meaning of section 2 of the Consumer Protection Act 2007) or any other member of its staff;
- (k) the auditor of the credit union or a person employed or engaged by that auditor;
- (l) a solicitor or other professional adviser who has been engaged by or on behalf of the credit union within the previous 3 years;
- (m) a person who is a spouse or civil partner, parent, sibling or child of a director, board oversight committee member or employee of that credit union.
- (6) A person shall resign from being a director of a credit union if and when they become a person to whom any provision of paragraph (5) relates.

#### Rule 41. *Election*

Subject to Rule 86, the board of directors of a credit union shall be elected:

(a) where the organisation meeting occurs after the commencement of section 53(6) of the Act (as amended by section 15 of the Credit Union and Co-operation with Overseas Regulators Act 2012), by secret ballot at the organisation meeting and, subject to rule 43 and rule 52, subsequent vacancies on the board of directors shall be filled by secret ballot at an annual general meeting, and (b) in any other case, by secret ballot at the annual general meeting first occurring after the commencement of section 53(6) (as amended by section 15 of the Credit Union and Cooperation with Overseas Regulators Act 2012) or, if earlier than that annual general meeting, at a special general meeting called for the purpose of such ballot and, subject to rule 43 and rule 52 subsequent vacancies on the board of directors shall be filled by secret ballot at an annual general meeting.

# Rule 42.Terms of office

- (1) The term of office of a director:
  - (a) shall begin at the conclusion of the general meeting or organisation meeting at which the director is elected; and
  - (b) shall not extend beyond the third subsequent annual general meeting.
- (2) (a) The regular terms of office for directors shall be fixed at the organisation meeting, or at a general meeting upon any increase or decrease in the number of directors.
  - (b) Regular terms shall be so fixed that at each annual general meeting the number of directors whose term of office expires shall, as near as possible, be the same.
- (3) Except where the Act or any other applicable requirement of financial services legislation otherwise provides, retiring directors shall be eligible for re-election immediately on retirement.
- (4) A member of a credit union may not be appointed or elected to the board of directors if they have served for more than 12 years in aggregate in the previous 15 years on either the board of directors or the board oversight committee of the credit union.
- (5) For directors of a credit union or members of the board oversight committee who were already directors or members of the board oversight committee on the date of the commencement of section 53 (as amended by the 2012 Act) in respect of such credit union, the 12-year period set out in paragraph (4) commences on the date that section so commenced.

# Rule 43. *Casual vacancies*

- (1) Subject to the requirements of the Act and all other applicable requirements of financial services legislation, the board of directors may at any time and from time to time appoint, by a vote of a majority of the directors then holding office, a member of the credit union (including a former director) to be a director to fill a casual vacancy. A director appointed under this rule shall hold office from the date of the appointment to the next following annual general meeting of the credit union, or, if it is earlier, the next special general meeting at which an election is held for members of the board of directors.
- (2) Where the secretary of the credit union becomes aware that all the directors of the credit union intend to resign on the same date, the Secretary shall give written notice of their intention to the Bank, the Irish League of Credit Unions and, in the case of a credit union other than a corporate credit union, the board oversight committee.

# Rule 44. *Regular meetings*

- (1) The board of directors shall meet as often as may be appropriate to fulfil its responsibilities effectively and prudently and reflecting the nature, scale and complexity of the credit union but in any event:
  - (a) the board of directors shall hold at least six meetings in any year, and
  - (b) the interval between any two meetings of the board of directors shall not be greater than ten weeks.
- (2) Meetings of the board of directors of a credit union shall be chaired by the chair or, in their absence, by the vice-chair or, in the absence of the chair and the vice-chair, in a manner prescribed by the Bank or, if no manner is so prescribed, by such director as is nominated by majority vote by the directors present to chair that meeting.
- (3) All meetings of the board of directors, including but not limited to, matters relating to the agenda and minutes shall be conducted in accordance with section 54 of the Act.

# Rule 45. *Quorum*

- (1) A majority of the number of directors specified in the rules (inclusive of any vacancies) shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of any business at any meeting of the board of directors, but fewer than a quorum may adjourn to any date not less than two nor more than thirty days from the date of the meeting.
- (2) The quorum for an adjourned meeting shall be five or such greater number as the board of directors has previously decided by resolution.
- (3) Notice of an adjourned meeting shall be given as provided in rule 47.

# Rule 46.Additional meeting

The chair or, in the chair's absence, the vice-chair, may call a special meeting of the board of directors at any time and shall do so upon the written request of any five directors. The chair or, in the chair's absence, the vice-chair shall fix the date, time and place of such meetings unless the board of directors, by resolution, decides otherwise.

# Rule 47. Notice

All meetings of the board of directors shall be summoned in such manner as the board of directors may from time-to-time resolve.

# Rule 48. Removal of a director from office

- (1) Subject to paragraph (2), the credit union may, by resolution of a majority of the members present and voting at a special general meeting called for that purpose, remove a director from office.
- (2) The secretary shall, not less than twenty-one days before the date of the special general meeting at which it is proposed to move the resolution referred to in paragraph (1), give

written notice of the meeting to the director concerned.

- (3) Where notice is given of such a resolution as is mentioned in paragraph (1) and the director concerned makes, in relation to it, representations in writing to the credit union (not exceeding a reasonable length) and requests their notification to the members of the credit union, the credit union shall, subject to paragraph (5) (unless the representations are received by it too late to do so):
  - (a) in any notice of the proposed resolution given to members of the credit union, state the fact of the representations having been made; and
  - (b) send a copy of the representations to every member of the credit union to whom notice of the meeting is sent (whether before or after the credit union receives the representations).
- (4) Subject to paragraph (5), and whether or not copies of any representations made by the director have been sent as mentioned in paragraph (3), the director concerned may require that, without prejudice to the director's right to be heard orally, the representations made by the director shall be read out at the special general meeting.
- (5) Paragraphs (3) and (4) shall not apply if, on the application either of the credit union or of any person who claims to be aggrieved, the Bank is satisfied that compliance with the paragraphs would diminish substantially public confidence in the credit union or that the rights conferred by them are being, or are likely to be, abused in order to secure needless publicity for defamatory matter.
- (6) A vacancy arising from the removal of a director under this rule shall be filled in accordance with the provisions of rule 43.

# Rule 49. Voting

Each director shall have one vote on any matter at a meeting of the board of directors provided that the chair of the meeting shall have a second or casting vote in the event of equality of voting.

# Rule 50. Powers and functions

Subject to law and these rules the board of directors shall have responsibility for the general control, direction and management of the credit union and the functions of the board of directors shall include the following:

- (a) setting the strategy for the credit union by preparing, including active participation and examination of strategies being developed or proposed by the manager, management team or others and preparing and adopting a strategic plan;
- (b) monitoring the implementation of the strategic plan by the credit union, reviewing the performance of the credit union against the measurements defined in the strategic plan and assessing, on a regular basis but at least annually, how the strategic objectives of the credit union are being achieved;
- (c) reviewing the credit union's strategic plan on a regular basis, but at least annually, to ensure that it remains relevant and up to date and modifying or revising the

strategic plan to incorporate any changes required as a result of the review;

- (d) operating a comprehensive decision-making process, considering all matters it considers to be of material relevance to the credit union and documenting the reasons for its decisions;
- (e) the appointment of a manager, risk management officer and compliance officer and the approval of the appointment of any other member of the management team;
- (f) ensuring that there is an effective management team in place;
- (g) reviewing the performance of the manager on an annual basis and monitoring on an ongoing basis their continued appropriateness to be the manager;
- (h) ensuring that the performance of every other employee and voluntary assistant, is reviewed and monitored on an ongoing basis to ensure their continued appropriateness for their role in the credit union;
- (i) identifying, in consultation with the manager, other officer positions within the credit union that:
  - (i) are essential to the proper management of the credit union,

(ii) are likely to enable the person holding the position to exercise significant influence on the conduct of the affairs of the credit union, and which, together with the manager and risk management officer of the credit union are referred to in the Act as the 'management team';

- (j) ensuring there is an appropriate succession plan in place in respect of each of the positions that constitute the management team;
- (k) exercising appropriate oversight over execution by the management team of the agreed strategies, goals and objectives;
- (1) reviewing and approving all elements of the risk management system on a regular basis, but at least annually and, in particular—

(i) assessing the appropriateness of the risk management system,

(ii) taking account of any changes to the strategic plan including the credit union's resources or the external environment, and

(iii) taking measures necessary to address any deficiencies identified in the risk management system;

- (m) ensuring compliance with all requirements imposed on the credit union by or under the Acts or any other financial services legislation;
- (n) the removal from office of an officer of the credit union, except directors or members of the board oversight committee, where the board of directors has duly determined that there has been a failure by the person concerned to perform duties or responsibilities;

- (o) approving, reviewing, and updating, where necessary, but at least every three years, all plans and policies of the credit union, including the following:
  - (i) lending policies including lending limits;
  - (ii) policies in relation to members' shares and deposits including the setting of a maximum number of shares a member can hold and a maximum amount that a member may deposit;
  - (iii) liquidity management policies;
  - (iv) reserve management policies;
  - (v) investment policies;
  - (vi) the designating of depositories for the funds of the credit union and signatories to cheques, drafts or similar documents drawn on the credit union;
  - (vii)standards of conduct and ethical behaviour for officers;
  - (viii) remuneration policies and practices;
  - (ix) compliance plan and policies;
  - (x) records management policies;
  - (xi) information systems and management information policies;
  - (xii)business continuity plan;
  - (xiii) asset and liability management policies;
  - (xiv) outsourcing policies;
  - (xv)risk management policy;
  - (xvi) conflicts of interest policy;
  - (xvii) environmental, social and governance policy;
  - (xviii) such other matters as the Bank may prescribe;
- (p) the recommendation to members, for approval, of dividends to members;
- (q) ensuring the accounts of the credit union are submitted for audit;
- (r) reporting to the members of the credit union at the annual general meeting, including nominating a member of the board of directors to present the annual accounts at the annual general meeting;

- (s) reviewing and considering any update of financial statements provided to the board of directors by the manager under section 63A(4)(c) of the Act;
- (t) making provision for the disclosure of its books and documents for the purpose of enabling it to enter into contracts for the benefit of the credit union.

#### Rule 51.Acts of a director

The acts of a director of the credit union shall be valid notwithstanding any defect in the appointment of the director which may be subsequently discovered.

#### Rule 52.Supplemental provisions

- (1) A register of directors shall be kept by the secretary of the credit union and signed by all the directors each year after the annual general meeting or, in the case of a director appointed to fill a casual vacancy, after the appointment.
- (2) In the event that the number of directors of the credit union falls to less than half the number specified in rule 40(2), the secretary shall forthwith notify the Bank and, in the case of a credit union other than a corporate credit union, the board oversight committee of the credit union.
- (3) Where any of the following events occurs:
  - (a) the secretary of the credit union has given notice under section 53(17) of the Act that all the directors of the credit union intend to resign on the same date,
  - (b) all the directors have been removed or suspended in accordance with section 96(1) of the Act, or
  - (c) there is no board of directors,

then, in the case of a credit union other than a corporate credit union, the secretary shall convene a special general meeting of the credit union, within one month of the occurrence of the event in question, to elect a board of directors.

(4) A director of the credit union who is also a member of the membership committee, credit committee or credit control committee thereof, or who is also chair, vice-chair or secretary thereof shall, upon ceasing to hold office as a director, cease to be a member of any of the committees aforesaid, or cease to hold any of the offices aforesaid.

# SECTION 9. BOARD OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE

#### Rule 53. Membership and general provisions

- (1) The credit union shall have a board oversight committee which shall consist of 3 members. It shall consist of three or five members.
- (2) The credit union shall comply with the Act and all applicable requirements of financial services legislation, in particular but without limit to the Fitness & Probity Regulations for credit unions,

with respect to the appointment, and continuation in office, of members of the board oversight committee.

- (3) A credit union shall not elect any of the following persons to be a member of its board oversight committee:
  - (a) an employee or voluntary assistant of the credit union or an employee of any other credit union;
  - (b) a member of the board oversight committee of any other credit union;
  - (c) an employee of a representative body of which the credit union is a member, where that employee's role could expose them to a potential conflict of interest;
  - (d) a public servant (within the meaning of the Financial Emergency Measures in the Public Interest Act 2009) assigned to the Department of Finance and involved in advising the Minister on credit union issues or in the examination of credit union issues;
  - (e) a member of the Commission of the Bank;
  - (f) an officer (within the meaning of section 2 of the Central Bank Act 1942) or other employee of the Bank and involved in the regulation of credit unions;
  - (g) Financial Services Ombudsman (within the meaning of section 2 of the Central Bank Act 1942) or a Bureau staff member (within the meaning of section 57BA of that Act);
  - (h) a member of the Irish Financial Services Appeals Tribunal or a member of its staff (including the Registrar);
  - (i) the chief executive of the National Consumer Agency, an authorised officer of that Agency (within the meaning of section 2 of the Consumer Protection Act 2007) or any other member of its staff;
  - (j) the auditor of the credit union or a person employed or engaged by that auditor;
  - (k) a solicitor or other professional adviser who has been engaged by or on behalf of the credit union within the previous 3 years;
  - (l) a person who is a spouse or civil partner, cohabitant, parent, sibling or child, of a director, board oversight committee member or employee of that credit union;
  - (m) a body corporate;
  - (n) a person who is not of full age;
  - (o) a director of the credit union.
- (4) A person shall resign from being a member of the board oversight committee of a credit union if and when they become a person to whom any of the provisions of paragraph (3) relate.
- (5) A board oversight committee member may not be appointed or reappointed to the board oversight

committee if they have served for more than 12 years in the previous 15 years whether on the board of directors or the board oversight committee.

# Rule 54. *Election*

The board oversight committee of a credit union shall be elected:

- where the organisation meeting occurs after the commencement of section 76N of the Act, from among the members, by secret ballot at the organisation meeting and, subject to rule 57 and rule 62(4) subsequent vacancies on the board oversight committee shall be filled, from among the members, by secret ballot at an annual general meeting,
- (2) in any other case, from among the members, by secret ballot at the annual general meeting first occurring after the commencement of section 76N of the Act or, if earlier than that annual general meeting, at a special general meeting called for the purpose of such ballot and, subject to rule 57 and rule 62(4), subsequent vacancies on the board oversight committee shall be filled, from among the members, by secret ballot at an annual general meeting.

# Rule 55.Chair and secretary

- (1) The board oversight committee shall choose from its number a chair and secretary. The offices of chair and secretary shall not be held by the same person.
- (2) The secretary shall prepare and have custody of records of all decisions and actions taken by the committee.

# Rule 56.Term of office

- (1) The term of office of a member of the board oversight committee:
  - (a) shall begin at the conclusion of the general meeting or organisation meeting at which the member is elected; and
  - (b) shall not extend beyond the third subsequent annual general meeting.
- (2) The rules for retirement from the board oversight committee shall be as follows:
  - (a) where the committee consists of three members, one shall retire at each annual general meeting;
  - (b) where the committee consists of five members, two shall retire at each annual general meeting;
  - (c) subject to paragraph (d), the members to retire at any time shall be those who have served longest since they were last elected; and
  - (d) as between members who were last elected on the same day, the member (or members) to retire shall be determined by agreement or, in default of agreement, by the drawing of lots.

(3) Except where the Act or any other applicable legal requirement otherwise provides, a retiring member of the board oversight committee shall be eligible for re-election.

# Rule 57. Casual vacancy

If a casual vacancy arises in the membership of the board oversight committee then, within one month of the vacancy arising, the committee shall appoint a member of the credit union (who may, if the committee thinks fit, be a former member of the committee) to fill the vacancy; and the member so appointed shall hold office until the next general meeting at which an election is held for members of the board oversight committee.

# Rule 58. Resignation of board oversight committee

Where the secretary of the board oversight committee becomes aware that all the members of the board oversight committee intend to resign on the same date, the Secretary shall give written notice of their intention to the Bank, the Irish League of Credit Unions and the board of directors.

# Rule 59.Procedural provisions

- (1) The board oversight committee shall hold:
  - (a) at least one meeting in every 2 months; and
  - (b) meetings with the board of directors at least four times in every year to facilitate it in carrying out the assessment under rule 60 and the board oversight committee shall keep minutes of every meeting held by it under paragraphs (a) and (b).
- (2) The board oversight committee shall submit within two weeks of any meeting referred to in paragraph (1)(b) a written report to the board of directors on their assessment of whether the board of directors has operated in accordance with Part IV and Part IVA of the Act and any regulations relating to Part IV or Part IVA of the Act.
- (3) Members of the board oversight committee shall have the right to attend all meetings of
  - (a) the board of directors and
  - (b) a committee acting on behalf of the board of directors under section 56A (1) of the Act.

The board oversight committee shall ensure at least one of its members attends every meeting of the board of directors.

- (4) The board oversight committee shall have access, at all times, to the books and documents (including draft documents) of the credit union to enable it to carry out its functions under the Act.
- (5) The board oversight committee may notify the Bank of any concern it may have as to the proper conduct of the credit union following a unanimous vote at a meeting of the committee called for the purpose of considering such a notification.

# Rule 60. Functions of the board oversight committee

The board oversight committee shall assess whether the board of directors has operated in

accordance with Part IV, Part IVA of the Act and any regulations made for the purposes of Part IV or Part IVA of the Act and any other matter prescribed by the Bank in respect of which they are to have regard to in relation to the board of directors.

# Rule 61.Removal from office

- (1) Subject to paragraph (2), the credit union may (including by reason that the member of the board oversight committee is more than 90 consecutive days in arrears under a debt obligation to the credit union), by resolution of a majority of the members present and voting at a special general meeting called for that purpose, remove a member of the board oversight committee from office.
- (2) The secretary of the credit union shall, not less than twenty-one days before the date of the special general meeting at which it is proposed to move a resolution referred to in paragraph (1), give written notice of the meeting to the member concerned.
- (3) Where notice is given of such a resolution as is mentioned in paragraph (1) and the member of the board oversight committee concerned makes in relation to it representations in writing to the credit union (not exceeding a reasonable length) and requests notification to the members of the credit union, the credit union shall, subject to paragraph (5), (unless the representations are received by it too late to do so):
  - (a) in any notice of the proposed resolution given to members of the credit union, state the fact of the representations having been made; and
  - (b) send a copy of the representations to every member of the credit union to whom notice of the meeting is sent (whether before or after the credit union receives the representations).
- (4) Subject to paragraph (5), and whether or not copies of any representations made have been sent as mentioned in paragraph (3), the member of the board oversight committee concerned may require that, without prejudice to that member's right to be heard orally, the representations made by that member shall be read out at the special general meeting.
- (5) Paragraphs (3) and (4) shall not apply if, on the application either of the credit union or of any person who claims to be aggrieved, the Bank is satisfied that compliance with the paragraphs would diminish substantially public confidence in the credit union or that the rights conferred by them are being, or are likely to be, abused in order to secure needless publicity for defamatory matter.
- (6) A vacancy arising from the removal of a member of a board oversight committee under this rule shall be filled in accordance with the provisions of rule 57.

# Rule 62.Supplemental provisions

- (1) A register of the members of the board oversight committee shall be kept by the secretary of the credit union and shall be signed by each member of the board oversight committee after an annual general meeting or, in the case of a member appointed to fill a casual vacancy, after the appointment.
- (2) In the event that the number of members of the board oversight committee falls to less than half the number specified in these rules, the secretary of the board oversight committee shall

forthwith notify the Bank and the board of directors.

- (3) The acts of a member of the board oversight committee of a credit union shall be valid notwithstanding any defect in the election or appointment of the member which may subsequently be discovered.
- (4) Where any of the following events occurs:
  - (a) the secretary of the board oversight committee has given notice that all the members of the board oversight committee intend to resign on the same date:
  - (b) all the members of the board oversight committee have been removed or suspended in accordance with section 96(1) of the Act; or
  - (c) there are no members of the board oversight committee,

the board of directors shall convene a special general meeting of the credit union, within one month of the occurrence of the event in question, to elect a board oversight committee.

- (5) If the special general meeting referred to in paragraph (4) is not convened in accordance with the provisions of that paragraph, the Bank may convene such a special general meeting under section 92(1)(b) of the Act.
- (6) The credit union shall meet all such expenses as may be reasonably incurred by its board oversight committee in carrying out its function.

# SECTION 10. PRINCIPAL POSTS: DUTIES

#### Rule 63. *Principal posts*

- Subject to the requirements of the Act, these rules and any other applicable requirement of financial services legislation including Minimum Competency requirements and the Fitness & Probity Regulations for Credit Unions at a meeting of the board of directors of the credit union:
  - (a) which is held immediately after the organisation meeting, an annual general meeting or special general meeting at which an election is held for members of the board of directors, and
  - (b) which is (i) in the case of a credit union other than a corporate credit union, chaired by a member of the board oversight committee, and (ii) in the case of a corporate credit union, chaired by a member of the board of directors,

the board of directors shall, subject to paragraph (3A) of this Rule, elect by secret ballot directors to fill such of the principal posts in the credit union as are then vacant; and, for the purposes of this rule, the principal posts in the credit union are the posts of chair (or president), vice-chair (or vice-president) and secretary. The term of office of the holder of a principal post shall be until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting following election to that post; and subject to the requirements of the Act, these rules and any other applicable requirement of financial services legislation a person who has been a holder of a

principal post shall be eligible for re-election to that post.

- (2) In the event of a casual vacancy in a principal post, the board of directors may, subject to paragraph (3A) of this Rule, by secret ballot elect a director to hold that post until the next meeting at which, in accordance with paragraph (1), an election should be held to fill any such vacancy.
- (3) Without prejudice to paragraph (2), if a principal post falls vacant or for any other reason there is no holder of a principal post, anything that is required or authorised to be done by the holder of that post may be done by a director authorised in that behalf by the board of directors.
- (3A) A manager appointed as a director pursuant to Rule 86 (5) shall not be eligible for election under paragraph (1) or (2) of Rule 63 or authorisation under paragraph (3) of Rule 63.

# Rule 64. Chair

- (1) The functions of the chair of a credit union include the following:
  - (a) ensuring that meetings of the board of directors operate in an efficient and effective manner;
  - (b) encouraging constructive discussions and debate at board of directors meetings;
  - (c) promoting effective communications between members of the board of directors and between the board of directors and the management team of the credit union;
  - (d) causing the agenda to be set by the secretary, attending and chairing board of directors meetings;
  - (e) ensuring that the responsibilities of the nomination committee, as set out in section 56B(4) of the Act, are performed by that committee;
  - (f) conducting a performance evaluation of each member of the board of directors on an annual basis to ensure that each director is complying with the obligations under financial services legislation and the board of directors' objectives as set out in the credit union's strategic plan;
  - (g) in the case of a credit union other than a corporate credit union, facilitating the work of the board oversight committee through providing it with all reasonable assistance to enable that committee to carry out its functions; and
  - (h) ensuring that conflicts of interest are appropriately managed by the board of directors, and by each of them, in accordance with section 69 of the Act.
- (2) A chair of the board of directors shall not serve more than four consecutive terms in that position and, having so served shall not be eligible to be chair until
  - (a) after another director has served at least one term as chair, or
  - (b) where such other director has served for less than one year, after 2 or more

directors have served as chair for the equivalent of at least one complete term,

but nothing in this paragraph shall prevent a former chair of the board of directors from chairing a meeting of the board of directors in the absence of the chair and, where relevant, the vice-chair.

- (3) A director of the credit union shall not be eligible to be elected as chair if the director had, at any time during the 5 years preceding the election, been:
  - (a) an employee of that credit union, or
  - (b) a person who acted in any management capacity (whether voluntary or paid) in that credit union,

and, for the purposes of this paragraph, 'acted in any management capacity' includes performing a role where the person was in a position to exercise a significant influence on the conduct of the credit union's affairs but does not include acting as a member of the board of directors or as a member of the board oversight committee.

- (4) A person shall cease being chair of a board of directors if:
  - (a) the person ceases being a director for any reason, or
  - (b) the person resigns from being chair in accordance with paragraph (5).
- (5) A director may resign from being chair of the board of directors by sending their resignation in writing to the secretary of the credit union.

#### Rule 65. *Vice-chair*

- (1) The vice-chair shall exercise the duties of the chair during the latter's absence or inability to act.
- (2) Directors of a credit union may not serve more than three consecutive years as vice-chair and a person who has been the holder of such a principal post shall not be eligible for reelection thereto until after the expiry of one year since they last held it.

#### Rule 66.Secretary

- (1) The secretary of the credit union shall give, or cause to be given proper notice of all meetings of the members and of the board of directors and shall prepare and maintain minutes of all meetings thereof and shall perform such other duties not inconsistent with the provisions of the law and these rules as the board of directors may from time to time direct.
- (2) Directors of a credit union may not serve more than three consecutive years as secretary and a person who has been the holder of such a principal post shall not be eligible for reelection thereto until after the expiry of one year since the person last held it.

# SECTION 11. CREDIT COMMITTEE

# Rule 67. *Membership and duty in general*

- (1) The board of directors shall appoint a credit committee of not less than three members which shall decide on applications for credit.
- (2) A member of the credit control committee, the credit control officer or a credit officer shall not be eligible for membership of the credit committee.

## Rule 68.Chair and secretary

- (1) The credit committee shall choose from its number a chair and a secretary. The offices of chair and secretary shall not be held by the same person.
- (2) The secretary shall prepare and maintain complete records of all meetings of the committee.

## Rule 69. *Meetings*

The credit committee shall meet as often as necessary to carry out its functions, but not less frequently than once a month. Notice of such meetings shall be given to the committee members in such manner as the committee may from time to time prescribe.

#### Rule 70. Report to the board

The credit committee shall:

- (a) submit a written report to the board of directors at each meeting of the board of directors; and
- (b) comply with any instruction of the board of directors.

# Rule 71. Approval of loans

Loans shall be approved in accordance with rule 35.

# Rule 72. Credit officer

- (1) The board of directors may:
  - (a) approve the appointment of a person by the manager, other than a member of the board of directors, a member of the credit control committee or a credit control officer, as a credit officer to work under the supervision of the credit committee, and
  - (b) assign to the credit officer the power to approve credit on its behalf:
    - (i) that is fully secured by the shareholding of the borrowing member or to an amount in excess of that shareholding; or

(ii) that qualifies as emergency credit within such definitions and limitations as to amount, the terms of repayment and security required for emergency credit as may be established in writing by the board of directors;

and the amount in the excess referred to in paragraph (1)(b)(i) shall be determined from time to time by the board of directors.

# Rule 73. Duties of credit committee and/or credit officer

The credit committee and/or a credit officer shall inquire into the character and financial circumstances of an applicant for credit and the security offered, if any, in order to:

- (a) ascertain the applicant's ability to repay a loan in accordance with its terms, and
- (b) ensure that the provision of credit does not involve undue risk to members savings.

## Rule 74. Appeal against non-approval of loan

An appeal against non-approval of a loan by the credit officer or the credit committee shall be in accordance with rule 36.

## SECTION 12. CREDIT CONTROL COMMITTEE

## Rule 75. *Membership and duty in general*

- (1) The board of directors shall appoint a credit control committee of not less than three members which shall seek to ensure the repayment of loans by members of the credit union in accordance with their loan agreements.
- (2) A member of the credit committee, a credit officer, or the credit control officer shall not be eligible for membership of the credit control committee.

#### Rule 76.Chair and secretary

- (1) The credit control committee shall choose from its number a chair and a secretary. The offices of chair and secretary shall not be held by the same person.
- (2) The secretary shall prepare and maintain complete records of all meetings of the committee.

#### Rule 77. *Meetings*

The credit control committee shall meet as often as necessary to carry out its functions, but not less frequently than once a month. Notice of such meetings shall be given to the committee members in such manner as the committee may from time to time prescribe.

# Rule 78.Report to the board

The credit control committee shall:

(a) submit a written report to the board of directors at each meeting of the board of directors; and

(b) comply with any instruction of the board of directors.

# Rule 79. Credit control officer

The board of directors may approve the appointment of a person by the manager, other than a member of the board of directors, member of the credit control committee, or member of the credit committee or a credit officer, as a credit control officer to assist the credit control committee and work under its supervision and control.

# SECTION 13. MEMBERSHIP COMMITTEE

## Rule 80. Membership

The board of directors shall appoint a membership committee which shall determine applications for membership of the credit union that have been rejected under a process referred to in Rule 13.

## Rule 81. *Chair and secretary*

- (1) The membership committee shall choose from its number a chair and a secretary. The offices of chair and secretary shall not be held by the same person.
- (2) The secretary shall prepare and maintain complete records of all meetings of the committee.

# Rule 82. *Meetings*

The membership committee shall:

- (a) meet as often as necessary to carry out its functions;
- (b) submit a written report to the board of directors at each meeting of the board of directors; and
- (c) comply with any instruction of the board of directors.

# Rule 83.Duties

Subject to these rules and the Act, the membership committee and/or membership officer shall:

- (1) ascertain and determine that an applicant is eligible for membership;
- (2) explain to such applicant the requirements for admission to membership and the conditions for retaining membership;
- (3) assist the applicant in filling in all necessary application forms;

- (4) accept entrance fees and initial share payments;
- (5) admit persons to membership;
- (6) issue numbered passbooks or other evidence of membership to new members; and
- (7) deliver a copy of these rules to every person on demand, on payment of a sum not exceeding €1 or such larger sum as may for the time be prescribed by the Minister.

## Rule 84.Membership Officer

- (1) The board of directors may approve the appointment of a person by the manager as a membership officer to assist the membership committee and work under its supervision and control.
- (2) A record of each application for membership which has or has not been approved shall be furnished by the membership officer to the membership committee no later than seven days of receipt of the application.

# SECTION 14. SUSPENSION AND REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS BY THE BOARD OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE

#### **Rule 85.** Suspension and removal of directors by the board oversight committee

- (1) If the board oversight committee of a credit union considers that a member of the board of directors:
  - (a) has taken any action or decision which, in the opinion of the committee, given in writing to the director concerned, is not in accordance with the requirements of Part IV of the Act; or
  - (b) is more than 90 consecutive days in arrears under a debt obligation to the credit union;

then, after notifying the Bank, the committee may either:

- (i) suspend, with immediate effect, the director by a unanimous vote of all the members of the committee taken at a meeting of the committee called for the purpose of considering the director's suspension, or
- (ii) convene a special general meeting of the credit union to consider whether to remove the director in light of the action or decision taken by that director,

but no steps shall be taken under this paragraph without the director concerned being given an opportunity to be heard by the members of the board oversight committee.

(2) Where a director of a credit union has—

(a) been suspended by the board oversight committee in accordance with paragraph (1), and

(b) within 7 days of that suspension, notified the board oversight committee, in writing, that the director is aggrieved by the suspension, the board oversight committee shall ensure that the secretary of the credit union issues, within 14 days of that notification, a notice of a special general meeting—

(i) for the purpose of reviewing the suspension, and

(ii) to consider whether to remove the director having regard to the action or decision taken by that director.

- (3) Where the board oversight committee convenes a special general meeting for the purposes of this rule the credit union may, by resolution of a majority of the members present and voting at that special general meeting:
  - (a) ratify the suspension of the director concerned and remove that director from office,
  - (b) rescind the suspension of that director, or
  - (c) remove that director from office,

but no director shall be so removed from office without being given an opportunity to be heard by the members present at the meeting.

- (4) The secretary of the credit union shall, not less than 21 days before the date of the special general meeting at which it is proposed to move a resolution referred to in paragraph (3), give written notice of that meeting to the director concerned and the Irish League of Credit Unions.
- (5) Where notice is given of an intended resolution to remove a director under this rule and the director concerned makes in relation to it representations (not exceeding a reasonable length) in writing to the credit union and requests their notification to the members of the credit union then, unless the representations are received by the credit union too late for it to do so, the credit union shall, subject to paragraph (7):
  - (a) in any notice of the resolution given to members of the credit union, state the fact of the representations having been made, and
  - (b) (b) send a copy of the representations to every member of the credit union to whom notice of the meeting is sent.
- (6) Subject to paragraph (7), and whether or not copies of any representations made by the director have been sent as mentioned in paragraph (5), the director concerned may require that, without prejudice to the director's right to be heard orally, the representations made by the director shall be read out at the special general meeting.
- (7) Paragraphs (5) and (6) shall not apply if, on the application either of the credit union or of any person who claims to be aggrieved, the Bank is satisfied that compliance with the paragraphs would diminish substantially public confidence in the credit union or that the rights conferred by those paragraphs are being, or are likely to be, abused in order to secure needless publicity for defamatory matter.
- (8) Where a director of a credit union is removed from office at a special general meeting pursuant to this rule, the vacancy caused by the removal shall be filled in such manner as may be determined by the meeting

# SECTION 15. APPOINTED OFFICERS

#### Rule 86. Manager

- (1) The board of directors shall appoint an individual to the role of manager of the credit union.
- (2) The manager of a credit union shall be the chief executive officer of the credit union having responsibility for the day-today management of the credit union's operations, compliance and performance and shall be responsible to the board of directors for the performance of the manager's functions.
- (3) The functions of the manager of a credit union include the following:
  - (a) without prejudice to the exercise by the board of directors of its functions under subsection (1)(a) of section 55 of the Act, preparing and proposing to the board of directors for debate, scrutiny and approval, strategies for the strategic plan that the board of directors are required to prepare and approve under that subsection;
  - (b) implementing the strategies agreed by the board of directors to the standards set out in the strategic plan or as otherwise required by the board of directors;
  - (c) updating the board of directors on the financial position of the credit union, including submitting to the board of directors on a monthly basis unaudited financial statements that set out the financial position of the credit union;
  - (d) appointing or causing to be appointed such and so many persons as employees or as voluntary assistants as the manager considers appropriate after consulting with the management team of the credit union;
  - (e) preparing or causing to be prepared such financial reports and returns as may be required by the auditor of the credit union;
  - (f) implementing the proper systems of internal control which the board of directors have approved;
  - (g) ensure that all cash is deposited in accordance with the instructions of the board of directors;
  - (h) such other matters as may be duly assigned to the manager by the board of directors.
- (4) In appointing a person as manager of a credit union, its board of directors shall ensure that the person complies with all legal requirements (including requirements which the Bank may prescribe) to be appointed.
- (5) Subject to paragraph (6), the board of directors of a credit union may appoint the manager of the credit union to be a member of the board of directors for such term as they determine.
- (6) Where a person appointed under paragraph (5) ceases to be a manager of the credit union concerned, that person shall immediately upon such cessation cease to be a member of the board of directors of that credit union."

# Rule 87. Money laundering reporting officer

The board of directors of the credit union shall appoint an experienced member of the board of directors or a senior member of staff as money laundering reporting officer to whom all reports of suspected money laundering offences will be directed, assessed and, where appropriate, passed to the Gardaí and the Revenue Commissioners, in accordance with the Criminal Justice Act, (Money Laundering and Terrorist Financing) Act 2010 (as amended).

## Rule 88. Training liaison officer

The board of directors shall appoint a training liaison officer, the duties of whom shall include the carrying out of, or cause to be carried out, a training needs analysis for credit union personnel to help to co-ordinate training programmes.

## Rule 89. Youth development officer

The board of directors shall appoint a youth development officer, the duties of whom shall include the development of a youth policy for the credit union having accumulated relevant information on the youth population within the common bond.

# Rule 90. Risk Management Officer

In accordance with section 76C of the Act, the board of directors shall appoint a risk management officer who shall be responsible for identifying, assessing, reporting and monitoring all internal and external risks that could affect the credit union to which the risk management system relates, including risks to its employees, members, reputation and assets, and assisting the manager with managing and mitigating those risks.

# Rule 91. Compliance Officer

In accordance with section 76D of the Act, the board of directors shall appoint a compliance officer who shall be responsible for managing compliance at all levels in the credit union including:

- (a) ensuring that the credit union complies with all statutory and regulatory requirements, and
- (b) monitoring such compliance to ensure that no conflict of interest arises.

# SECTION 16. MANAGEMENT - GENERAL PROVISIONS

#### Rule 92. *Limit on remuneration*

- (1) The credit union shall not pay any remuneration, directly or indirectly, to:
  - (a) a director of the credit union, or
  - (b) a member of the board oversight committee

for any service performed by that person in that capacity.

- (2) Nothing in paragraph (1) shall be regarded as prohibiting the payment (or reimbursement) of expenses:
  - (a) which are necessarily incurred by a director or committee member in the course of performing any service on behalf, or for the benefit, of the credit union; and
  - (b) which are approved by at least 2 directors (not including the director whose expenses are being approved).
- (3) Nothing in paragraph (1) shall be regarded as prohibiting any officer or voluntary assistant of the credit union, acting not as such but in a professional capacity, from tendering for the supply of, and if successful supplying, goods or services to the credit union.

## **Rule 93.** *Confidentiality of information*

- (1) Subject to paragraph (2), during their term of office or at any time thereafter, an officer or voluntary assistant of the credit union shall not disclose or permit to be disclosed any information which concerns an account or transaction of a member with, or any other business of, the credit union.
- (2) Paragraph (1) does not apply to a disclosure of information:
  - (a) if or to the extent that it is necessary for the proper conduct of the business of the credit union; or
  - (b) which is required by a court in connection with any proceedings; or
  - (c) which is made with the consent of the person to whom the information relates and, where not the same person, of the person from whom the information was obtained; or
  - (d) which, in a case where the credit union is acting or has acted as agent for a person, is made to that person in respect of that capacity; or
  - (e) where the information is in the form of a summary or collection of information and is so framed as not to enable information relating to a particular member to be ascertained from it; or
  - (f) which, in the opinion of the Bank, is necessary for the protection of the funds of shareholders in or depositors with the credit union or to safeguard the interests of the credit union; or
  - (g) which is made to the Bank or the Irish League of Credit Unions for the purposes of their functions in relation to credit unions; or
  - (h) which is made to the Credit Union Restructuring Board for the purposes of its functions under the 2012 Act.
- (3) As soon as practicable after the beginning of their term of office every officer of the credit union shall, in such manner as the Bank may determine:

- (a) be informed by the credit union of their obligations under this rule; and
- (b) in writing acknowledge that they have been so informed and understand their obligations.

To that effect, immediately on election or appointment, or as soon as possible thereafter, such persons shall sign a declaration of secrecy form and such signing shall be renewed annually while the positions referred to are held.

- (4) Any reference in the preceding provisions of this rule to a term of office means:
  - (a) in relation to an officer who is an employee, the period of employment; and
  - (b) in relation to a voluntary assistant, the period during which the voluntary assistant is engaged in the operation of the credit union.

## Rule 94. *Persons disqualified from acting*

- (1) A person who has been adjudicated bankrupt and whose bankruptcy still subsists or who, in the previous 10 years, has been convicted of an offence in relation to a credit union or an offence involving fraud or dishonesty shall not:
  - (a) sign an application form for the registration of a society as a credit union;
  - (b) be qualified to be appointed or to act as an officer, auditor, receiver or liquidator of the credit union; or
  - (c) directly or indirectly take part in or be concerned in the management or operation of the credit union; or
  - (d) permit their name to be put forward for election or appointment to any of the positions referred to in paragraph (b).
- (2) If a person who is a member of the board of directors, the board oversight committee or a principal committee of the credit union is adjudicated bankrupt or convicted of such an offence as is referred to in paragraph (1), that person shall forthwith cease to hold office and the vacancy thereby created shall be deemed to be a casual vacancy and be filled accordingly.
- (3) A decision of the board of directors of the credit union shall not be affected by the presence at a meeting of the board of directors of a person who, by virtue of this rule, is disqualified from being a director; but any vote which such a person purports to cast shall be disregarded.

# SECTION 17. MEETINGS, RESOLUTIONS ETC.

#### **Rule 95.** *The organisation meeting*

(1) Not later than one month after the registration of the credit union, the signatories to the application to register the credit union shall by notice in writing summon a meeting (to be known as "the organisation meeting") of all the persons who, on the date of issue of the notice, were members of the credit union.

- (2) The notice required by paragraph (1):
  - (a) shall state the date, time and place of the organisation meeting; and
  - (b) shall, within the relevant period, be delivered to each member of the credit union.
- (3) The reference in paragraph (2)(b) to the relevant period is a reference to the period which begins twenty-one days before and ends seven days before the date of the organisation meeting; and the reference in paragraph (1) to the date of issue of the notice is a reference to the date or, as the case may be, the first date on which the notice is delivered to any member as mentioned in that paragraph.

#### Rule 96. The annual general meeting

- (1) In respect of each financial year, a meeting (to be known as the "annual general meeting") of the members of the credit union shall be held at a time, at a place in the State (where applicable) and in the manner (where applicable) as the board of directors may, by resolution, determine. For the purposes of these rules, the first annual general meeting of the credit union shall be the one held in October, November, December or January next after the organisation meeting.
- (2) The annual general meeting of the credit union in respect of any financial year shall be held in the October, November, December or January following the end of that financial year.
- (3) At each annual general meeting of the credit union, the directors shall lay before the credit union the annual accounts, in accordance with the Act, for the financial year in respect of which the meeting is held; and a copy of those accounts shall be delivered, together with the notice of the meeting, to every person entitled to receive such a notice.
- (4) The business at general meeting of the credit union must contain the following items on the agenda:
  - (a) The acceptance by the board of directors of the authorised representatives of members that are not natural persons;
  - (b) ascertainment that a quorum is present;
  - (c) adoption of standing orders;
  - (d) reading and approval (or correction) of the minutes of the last annual general meeting, and any intervening special general meeting;
  - (e) report of the board of directors;
  - (f) consideration of accounts;
  - (g) report of the auditor;
  - (h) report of the board oversight committee;
  - (i) declaration of dividend and rebate of interest (if any);

- (j) report of the credit committee;
- (k) report of the credit control committee;
- (1) report of the membership committee;
- (m) report of any sub-committee;
- (n) report of the nomination committee;
- (o) appointment of tellers;
- (p) election of auditor;
- (q) election to fill vacancies on the board oversight committee;
- (r) election to fill vacancies on the board of directors;
- (s) any other business;
- (t) announcement of election results;
- (u) adjournment or close of meeting.

Items (a), (b), (c) and (d) must be the first four items on the agenda and (u) must be the last item on the agenda. The positions on the agenda of the remaining elements to the

## Rule 96A.

- (1) The credit union need not hold a general meeting at a physical venue but may conduct the meeting wholly or partly by the use of electronic communications technology as long as all attendees have a reasonable opportunity to participate in the meeting in accordance with this Rule.
- (2) (a) The credit union may provide for participation in a general meeting by providing or facilitating, for that purpose, the use of electronic communications technology, including a mechanism for casting votes by a member, whether before or during the meeting.

(b) The mechanism referred to in paragraph (a) shall not require the member to be physically present at the general meeting.

(3) The use of electronic communications technology pursuant to paragraph (2) may be made subject only to such requirements or restrictions put in place by the credit union as are necessary to ensure the identification of attendees and the security of the electronic communications technology, to the extent that such requirements or restrictions are proportionate to the achievement of those objectives.

(4) The credit union shall inform attendees, before the general meeting concerned, of any requirements or restrictions which it has put in place pursuant to paragraph (3).

(5) The credit union that provides for the use of electronic communications technology for participation in a general meeting by an attendee shall endeavour to ensure, as far as practicable, that—

- (a) such technology:
  - (i) provides for the security of any electronic communications by the attendee,
  - (ii) minimises the risk of data corruption and unauthorised access, and
  - (iii) provides certainty as to the source of the electronic communications.

(b) in the case of any failure or disruption of such technology, that failure or disruption is remedied as soon as practicable, and

(c) such technology enables the attendee to:

(i) hear what is said by the chair of the meeting and any person introduced by the chair, and (ii) speak and submit questions and comments during the meeting to the chair to the extent that the attendee is entitled to do so under the rules of the credit union.

(6) Any temporary failure or disruption of electronic communications technology shall not invalidate the general meeting or any proceedings relating to the meeting.

(7) Unless such failure or disruption is attributable to any wilful act of the credit union, the credit union shall not be liable in respect of any failure or disruption relating to the equipment used by an attendee to access a general meeting by electronic communications technology that occurs and which failure or disruption prevents or interferes with the attendee's participation, by the use of such technology, in the meeting.

(8) Where, in the opinion of the board of directors, it is deemed necessary, due to exceptional and unexpected circumstances, the board of directors may, by resolution, cancel a general meeting at any time prior to the holding of the meeting.

# Rule 97.Special general meeting

- (1) The board of directors or the board oversight committee of the credit union may, whenever they think fit, convene a special general meeting of the credit union.
- (2) If requested to do so by the Irish League of Credit Unions as the body administering the savings protection scheme, the board of directors of the credit union shall convene a special general meeting of the credit union and the Irish League of Credit Unions shall also give notice of the meeting to the Bank.
- (3) The chief executive officer of the Irish League of Credit Unions, acting on the instructions of the League board, may convene a special general meeting of the members for the purpose of reporting to the members on the administration of their credit union and shall give notice of the meeting to the Registrar.
- (4) If, by notice in writing addressed to the secretary of the credit union at its registered office, a qualifying group of members of the credit union so request, the board of directors shall convene a special general meeting of the credit union; and, if, within one month from the date of the receipt of the notice at the credit union's registered office, the board of directors have not convened a special general meeting to be held within six weeks of that date, any ten members of the credit union, acting on behalf of the qualifying group who made the request, may convene a special general meeting.
- (5) For the purposes of a request under paragraph (4), a group of members of the credit union

is a qualifying group if:

- (a) each of them has been a member throughout the period of twelve months ending on the date of the request; and
- (b) they together number at least fifty or, if it is less, at least ten per cent. of the membership of the credit union at that date.

## Rule 98. Notice of general meetings

- (1) Before a general meeting of the credit union is held, the secretary of the credit union shall, in accordance with paragraph (2), give notice of the meeting to the Bank, to the auditor of the credit union, to the Irish League of Credit Unions and to every member of the credit union who, at the beginning of the relevant period, is eligible to vote at the meeting.
- (2) Subject to paragraph (4), the notice required by paragraph (1):
  - (a) shall state the date, time and place (where applicable) and manner of holding (where applicable) of the general meeting;
  - (b) shall be accompanied by the agenda for the meeting;
  - (c) in the case of a notice of a special general meeting, shall contain a statement that the annual accounts for the most recent financial year may be obtained, not later than seven days before the date of the general meeting, at the registered office of the credit union;
    - (d) shall, within the relevant period, be delivered

(i) personally, by post or by electronic means, to the auditor to such address as has been notified in writing to the credit union by the auditor for the purpose of receiving the notice,

- (ii) to each member of the credit union
- (iii) to the Bank
- (iv) to the Irish League of Credit Unions;
- (e) shall be displayed in the public office or offices of the credit union; and

(f) shall, in the case of a general meeting proposed to be held wholly or partly by the use of electronic communications technology, state

- (i) the electronic platform to be used for the meeting,
- (ii) details for access to the electronic platform,
- (iii) where required by a credit union, the time and manner by which an attendee must confirm the attendee's intention to attend the meeting,
- (iv) any requirements or restrictions which the credit union has put in place in order to identify attendees who intend to attend the meeting,

- (v) the procedure for attendees to communicate questions and comments during the meeting, and
- (vi) the procedure to be adopted for voting on resolutions proposed to be passed at the meeting.
- (3) References in paragraphs (1) and (2) to the relevant period are references to the period which begins twenty-one days before and ends seven days before the date of the general meeting.
- (4) With the consent of the Bank, given where the Bank considers there are exceptional circumstances justifying the application of section 80(4) of the Act, the notice required by paragraph (1) shall be given by publishing a notice, in accordance with paragraph (5), at such times (or within such period) and in such form and containing such information as the Bank may require.
- (5) Where paragraph (4) applies, the notice, which shall include the agenda for the meeting, shall be published:
  - (a) in at least two appropriate newspapers published in the State and circulating in the area of the common bond of the credit union and in the area in which the registered office of the credit union is situated, and
  - (b) in any other manner which the Bank requires as being necessary for bringing the notice to the attention of the persons entitled to attend the meeting,

and, for the purposes of paragraph (5)(a), the two appropriate newspapers are a local newspaper and a national daily newspaper or, if there is no local newspaper circulating in the area concerned, two national daily newspapers.

- (6) The proceedings at a general meeting shall not be invalidated by:
  - (a) the accidental omission to give notice to any member entitled to receive notice of the meeting; or
  - (b) the non-receipt by any member of notice of the meeting.
- (7) A general meeting of which notice is given less than seven days before the meeting but otherwise in accordance with paragraph (2) shall not be invalid if not less than two-thirds of the members entitled to vote at the meeting and the auditor so agree in writing either before or during the meeting.

# Rule 98A.

- (1) Notwithstanding Rule 98 but subject to paragraph (2), notice for the purposes of Rule 96A(8) shall be given in the same manner as the notice for the general meeting referred to in Rule 98 but where, in the opinion of the board of directors, giving such notice in that manner is not reasonably practicable, notice shall be given:
  - (a) where the credit union has a website, on that website,
  - (b) by email to every member for whom the credit union has an email address, and

(c) in at least one national newspaper published in the State and circulating in the area in which the registered office of the credit union is situated, in a local paper and on local radio.

(2) Paragraph (1) of this Rule shall not apply where all members agree in writing to the cancellation, change of venue or change of means of holding the general meeting concerned, or to dispensing with notice for the general meeting.

# Rule 99. *General meetings: voting, adjournment, quorum and minutes*

- (1) No member shall have more than one vote on each question at any general meeting of the credit union or any adjournment thereof irrespective of the member's shareholding or the number of accounts in the member's name in the credit union provided, however, that except in voting at elections, the presiding member shall have a second or casting vote in the event of equality of voting. Voting by proxy shall be allowed only when a member other than a natural person votes through a representative, who is a member of the group, duly authorised in writing for that purpose and accepted as such by the board of directors.
- (2) A general meeting of the credit union may, for good and sufficient reasons and with the consent of the majority of the members present and voting, be adjourned for not more than ninety days or such longer period as the Bank may require but:
  - (a) no business shall be transacted at an adjourned general meeting other than business left unfinished at the meeting from which the adjournment took place; and
  - (b) when a general meeting is adjourned for thirty or more days, the secretary of the credit union shall give notice of the adjourned meeting to the Bank, the auditor, the Irish League of Credit Unions and to every member who, under rule 98, was entitled to notice of the meeting which was adjourned.
- (3) Subject to paragraph (3) in rule 98:
  - (a) Paragraph (2)(a), (b), (d) (e), (f) of rule 98 shall apply to a notice under paragraph (2)(b) of this rule as they apply to a notice under paragraph (1) of that rule; and
  - (b) Paragraphs (6) and (7) of rule 98 shall apply in relation to an adjourned meeting as they apply in relation to a general meeting.
- (4) In the application of rule 98(2)(d) in accordance with paragraph (3), for the words "within the relevant period" there shall be substituted "not later than seven days before the date of the adjourned meeting".
- (5) Subject to paragraph (6), the quorum for a general meeting of the credit union shall be ten per cent. of the members or thirty members, whichever is the less.
- (6) Notwithstanding paragraph (5), in no case shall the quorum for a general meeting or for an adjourned general meeting of the credit union be less than ten members.
- (7) It shall be the duty of the secretary to keep minutes of all general meetings of the credit union.

## **Rule 100.** Supplementing provisions as to general meetings

- (1) The Bank shall have the right to attend and speak at any general meeting of the credit union.
- (2) The Irish League of Credit Unions shall have the right to be represented, to speak and to be heard at any general meeting of the credit union upon presentation to the chair of the meeting of duly authorised identification of the Irish League of Credit Unions.
- (3) Subject to paragraph (4), a member of the credit union may not vote by proxy at a general meeting of the credit union.
- (4) Where a member of the credit union is not a natural person, that member may be represented at a general meeting by a representative who may vote on behalf of the member if:
  - (a) the representative is duly authorised in writing by the member to do so; and
  - (b) the board of directors of the credit union has, expressly or by implication, accepted that authorisation;

and such a representative shall be entitled to exercise, on behalf of the member, the same powers as the member could exercise if the member were a natural person.

- (5) (a) A poll may be demanded at a general meeting (or an adjourned meeting) of the credit union:
  - (i) by the chair of the meeting (or the adjourned meeting) or
  - (ii) by at least ten members present having the right to vote at the meeting (or the adjourned meeting) on any question, other than the election of the chair of the meeting (or the adjourned meeting).
  - (b) A poll shall be taken in such manner as the chair directs and the chair may appoint scrutineers (who need not be members) and fix a time and place for declaring the result of the poll. The result of the poll shall be deemed to be the resolution of the meeting at which the poll was demanded.

# **Rule 101.** *Special resolutions*

- (1) If, at any general meeting of which notice has been given specifying the intention to propose a special resolution, the chair declares that the resolution has been passed as required by the definition of "special resolution" in section 2(1) of the Act, that declaration shall, without more, be evidence of that fact until the contrary is proved.
- (2) A copy of every special resolution for any of the purposes mentioned in the Act:
  - (a) shall be signed by the chair of the meeting at which the resolution was confirmed;
  - (b) shall be countersigned by the secretary of the credit union; and
  - (c) within twenty-one days of the date of the meeting at which the resolution was

passed, shall be sent to the Bank to be registered;

and the special resolution shall not take effect until that copy is so registered.

# SECTION 18. NOMINATIONS, ELECTIONS, ETC.

#### Rule 102. Nomination committee

- (1) The board of directors shall establish a nomination committee.
- (2) (a) At a meeting of the board of directors of the credit union:
  - (i) which is held immediately after the organisation meeting, an annual general meeting or special general meeting at which an election is held for members of the board of directors, and
  - (ii) which is chaired by a member of the board oversight committee,

the board of directors shall elect by secret ballot directors to fill such positions as are then vacant on the nomination committee.

- (b) In the event of a casual vacancy on the nomination committee, the board of directors may by secret ballot elect a director to fill that vacancy until the next meeting at which, in accordance with paragraph (*a*), an election should be held to fill any vacancy in the nomination committee.
- (3) The nomination committee shall comprise three members or five members.
- (4) Only members of the board of directors of a credit union, other than a member of the board of directors who is also the manager of a credit union, are eligible to serve on a nomination committee of the credit union.
- (5) The nomination committee shall be responsible for the following:
  - (a) identifying candidates to be nominated for appointment to the board of directors;
  - (b) accepting nominations of candidates proposed to be appointed to the board of directors;
  - (c) proposing:
    - (i) candidates, for election by a general meeting, to be members of the board, and

(ii) if prescribed by the Bank for the purposes of section 53(15) of the Act, at least such and so many candidates as may be required for consideration for appointment to fill vacancies on the board of directors;

- (d) proposing an additional person to be a director of the credit union pursuant to section 95A(1) of the Act;
- (e) assisting the credit union in performing any obligations of the credit union under section 23 of the Central Bank Reform Act 2010 in relation to any candidates proposed to perform

pre-approval-controlled functions (as construed in accordance with section 22 of that Act);

- (f) assisting the credit union in carrying out any checks which the credit union is undertaking to enable it to comply with its obligations under section 21 of the Central Bank Reform Act 2010;
- (g) informing each prospective candidate by notice in writing, before the prospective candidate is proposed as a candidate in accordance with paragraph (c), of the time commitment expected from each candidate in respect of the role as a director;
- (h) ensuring that there is an appropriate succession plan in place for the board of directors;
- (i) ensuring that each director is given adequate induction to their role on the board of directors so as to ensure that each director has sufficient appreciation of, and appropriate training about, the strategy, operations and performance of the credit union;
- (j) ensuring that the induction process and training referred to in paragraph (*i*) occurs as soon as is practicable and in any event by no later than 6 months following a director's initial appointment to the board of directors;
- (k) arranging additional training, either individually or collectively, for the members of the board of directors during their respective terms of appointment to the extent that the nomination committee considers it necessary in order for the board of directors to make informed decisions;
- (l) maintaining a record in writing of the periods of time during which a person has served as a member of the board of directors of the credit union;
- (6) Every candidate to be nominated for appointment as a member of the board of directors of a credit union shall be proposed through the nomination committee of the credit union. No person shall otherwise be put forward for election or seek election at an annual general meeting or special general meeting of the credit union at which an election is held for members of the board of directors.
- (7) The nomination committee shall ensure it receives nominations for appointment of persons as members of the board of directors of a credit union in time prior to any annual general meeting, or special general meeting at which an election is held for such members, so as to enable any requirements by or under Part 3 of the Central Bank Reform Act 2010 to be met in advance of those persons being nominated for appointment.
- (8) In identifying prospective candidates under paragraph (4)(*a*) and considering the proposing of candidates under paragraph (4)(*c*), the nomination committee shall consider the balance of gender, skills, experience and knowledge on the current board of directors and any review undertaken under paragraph (11).
- (9) In considering the proposing of candidates under paragraph (4)(c), the nomination committee shall have regard to:
  - (a) the number of directors on the board of directors and the number of vacancies to be filled,
  - (b) whether potential conflicts of interest could arise from the appointment to the board of

directors of a person if such person were duly nominated and appointed to the board of directors, and

(c) any other matter that the Bank may prescribe.

(10) Any potential conflict referred to in paragraph (8) shall be brought to the attention of:

- (a) where paragraph (4)(c)(i) is relevant, the members of the credit union at the general meeting concerned, and
- (b) where paragraph (4)(c)(ii) is relevant, the directors of the board of directors of the credit union at the meeting of the board of directors concerned.
- (11)The nomination committee shall not propose appointments to the board of directors or allow appointments to proceed where conflicts of interest exist or could arise in a way which in its opinion could significantly affect the ability of the board of directors to operate in accordance with section 69(1) of the Act.
- (12) The nomination committee shall review the composition of the board of directors at least once a year for the purpose of identifying any deficiencies in the composition of the board of directors. The review shall include determining whether or not there are any deficiencies in the balance of skills amongst the members of the board of directors and considering other matters relating to deficiencies that may be prescribed by the Bank.
- (13) The nomination committee shall:
  - (a) formally review the membership of any person who is a member of the board of directors for more than the 12 years in aggregate permitted under this Part, and
  - (b) shall document the rationale for the continuance of such membership of that person.
- (14) The nominating procedure for the board oversight committee shall be as established by the credit union in accordance with the Act and having regard to the guidance from the Bank with respect to the implementation of the Fitness & Probity Regulations for Credit Unions.

## Rule 103.Election procedure

- (1) When nominations are announced tellers shall be appointed by the chair and ballot papers shall be distributed. Nominations shall be in the following order:
  - (a) nominations for auditor;
  - (b) nominations for members of the board oversight committee;
  - (c) nominations for directors.
- (2) When voting is completed, the votes shall be taken and tallied by the tellers. Any ballot paper which contains votes for more than the number required to be elected shall be void. All elections shall be by secret ballot and by majority vote. When the votes have been counted by the tellers, the results shall be announced by the chair. In the event that all vacancies are not filled by the first ballot further ballots shall be taken as required. In the

event of an equality of votes between candidates for the remaining vacancies not filled in accordance with the above procedure one further ballot shall be taken and should that ballot fail to determine the issue, the vacancies shall be filled by lot from among such candidates having an equality of votes.

# Rule 104.One member one vote

Irrespective of the number of shares held by a member, no member shall have more than one vote.

#### Rule 105.Minimum voting age

All persons not less than sixteen years of age who have been accepted into membership in accordance with the rules shall be eligible to vote at a meeting of members.

## Rule 106. Prohibition on multiple resolutions

A motion for the election or appointment of two or more persons as officers of the credit union shall not be made at any general meeting thereof.

# SECTION 19. ACCOUNTS AND AUDIT

## Rule 107.Accounts and Audit

- (1) The credit union shall ensure that proper accounts of the credit union are kept and audited in accordance with the requirements of the Act and any other relevant legal requirements.
- (2) The credit union shall appoint an auditor in accordance with Part VII of the Act.

#### SECTION 20 Delivery of Notices etc...

#### **Rule 108.**

(1) Subject to paragraph (3), where a notice, direction or other document is authorised or required by or under the Act to be sent or delivered to a member of a credit union by the credit union, the credit union shall, unless otherwise specified in the Act, do so in one of the following ways:

(a) by delivery to the member;

(b) by post to the address of the member as recorded in the books of the credit union or such other address as has been notified in writing to the credit union by that member for the purpose of receiving the notice, direction or other document by post;

(c) by electronic means to such address as has been notified in writing to the credit union by that member for the purpose of receiving the notice, direction or other document electronically.

(2) Subject to paragraph (3), a copy of a document, other than a notice, required to be sent or delivered shall be treated as having been sent or delivered, as the case may be, by a credit union to a member where—

(a) the credit union and the member have agreed to the member having access to the document on a website maintained by or on behalf of the credit union,

(b) the member is notified, in a manner for the time being agreed for the purpose of such notification between the member and the credit union, of—

(i) the publication of the document on the website referred to in paragraph (a),

(ii) the address of that website,

(iii) the place on that website where the document may be accessed, and

(iv) how the document may be accessed,

(c) in the case of annual accounts the credit union may distribute or provide access to the annual accounts by electronic means, provided that

(i) the credit union has requested, in writing, the member's consent to the use of electronic means for conveying the credit union's annual accounts and the member has not objected to such use within 10 days of the receipt by the member of the request, and

(ii) the member may request at any time in the future that the annual accounts be conveyed to the member in writing,

(d) where the document is required to be delivered within a relevant period (as specified for the purpose of the provision requiring such delivery)—

(i) the document is published on the website referred to in paragraph (a) in the period from the start of the relevant period to the conclusion of the meeting concerned, and

(ii) the notification given for the purposes of paragraph (b) is given during the relevant period.

(3) This Rule shall not apply to the service, by or under the Act, of a notice, direction or other document.

#### SECTION 21 DISPUTES AND COMPLAINTS

#### Rule 109. Settlement of disputes

- (1) Save as otherwise required by or under the Act, this rule applies to any dispute between the credit union and:
  - (a) a member of the credit union in their capacity as a member;
  - (b) any former member of the credit union (in that capacity) who ceased to be a member of the credit union not more than six months previously;
  - (c) any person claiming through any such member or former member (in their capacity as such); or
  - (d) any person claiming under these rules.
- (2) Nothing in this rule shall prevent:
  - (a) a credit union, or
  - (b) a member of a credit union, or
  - (c) any person claiming through or under a member of a credit union,

from obtaining in the ordinary course of law any remedy to which the credit union, member or person is entitled in respect of any contract, excluding that constituted by these rules.

- (3) All disputes under this rule shall be decided in the following manner:
  - (a) For the purposes of this rule the complaining party or parties described under paragraph (1) shall be referred to as the complainant. The credit union shall ensure that this procedure and the names of officers designated under paragraph (3)(b) are notified to all members and are displayed in a prominent position in the public office of the credit union.
  - (b) The board of directors shall appoint:
    - a complaints officer whose duty it shall be to receive complaints forms under paragraph (3)(d) and to investigate, discuss and wherever possible resolve such complaints;
    - (ii) a complaints sub-committee, whose membership shall not include the officer appointed under paragraph (3)(b)(i) above, whose duty it shall be to investigate, discuss and wherever possible resolve complaints.
  - (c) The complainant shall discuss the complaint with the complaints officer appointed by the credit union under paragraph (3)(b)(i).
  - (d) In the event that the complaint is not resolved to the satisfaction of the complainant under paragraph (3)(c), the complainant shall complete a complaints from which shall be readily available in the public office of the credit union and pre-addressed to the complaints sub-committee. Following receipt of the complaints form, the complaints sub-committee shall investigate, discuss and wherever possible resolve the complaint. The complainant shall have the right to be heard by the sub-committee.
  - (e) In the event that the complaint is not resolved to the satisfaction of the complainant under paragraph (3)(d), the complainant shall request the secretary of the credit union to forward the complaint to the board of directors. The board of directors shall investigate, discuss and wherever possible resolve the complaint. The complainant shall have the right to be heard by the board of directors.
  - (f) Nothing in this rule shall prevent the Financial Services Ombudsman from investigating and adjudicating a complaint made against a credit union about the provision of, or failure to provide, a financial service, so long as the complaint:
    - (a) falls within the jurisdiction of that Ombudsman, and
    - (b) does not relate to a matter that involves only the governance of the credit union.

# SECTION 22. AFFILIATION WITH THE IRISH LEAGUE OF CREDIT UNIONS

## Rule 110. Affiliation with the Irish League of Credit Unions

- (1) The credit union shall affiliate with the Irish League of Credit Unions.
- (2) The credit union shall adopt as its registered rules the standard rules approved by the Irish League of Credit Unions and operate in accordance with them.
- (3) The credit union shall not unilaterally amend the standard rules of the Irish League of Credit Unions.
- (4) In consulting with, or making application to, the Bank for all services under sections 48 to 52, of the Act, the credit union may do so through the Irish League of Credit Unions.
- (5) Subject to compliance with any requirements made by or under the Acts, any other law and these rules, the credit union shall:
  - (a) abide by the rules and byelaws of the Irish League of Credit Unions as laid down from time to time for its members;
  - (b) operate within such standards in respect of operating ratios, identification and control of delinquency, bonding and insurance levels without limitation, insurance in relation to shares and loans of members and such other areas as decided by a general meeting of the Irish League of Credit Unions;
  - (c) co-operate with the carrying out of such examinations of the credit union by the Irish League of Credit Unions as will enable the Irish League of Credit Unions at its discretion to discharge its functions in relation to the credit union as determined in the Rules of the Irish League of Credit Unions or decided by a general meeting of the Irish League of Credit Unions;
  - (d) make such returns to the Irish League of Credit Unions as may be required by the board of the Irish League of Credit Unions;
  - (e) provide access to its premises to the officers and authorised representatives of the Irish League of Credit Unions;
  - (f) allow the officers and authorised representatives of the Irish League of Credit Unions to attend and speak at any meeting of the credit union's board of directors or members subject to reasonable notice;
  - (g) co-operate with the Irish League of Credit Unions in the calling of a special general meeting of the credit union members in accordance with rule 97.
- (6) On or before the 31st day of January in each year during the time the credit union is a member of the Irish League of Credit Unions each person who was a member on 30th September of the preceding year shall pay an annual League affiliation fee. The affiliation fee may be deducted by the credit union from the share account of the member and shall forthwith be paid to the League to assist in its functioning.

(7) Notice of intention to create any charge on the assets of the credit union shall be given to the Irish League of Credit Unions at least twenty-one days before such charge is created.

Signed: _	 Secretary
	 _ Director
	 _ Member
	 _ Member